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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good afternoon,

          3  ladies and gentlemen, we are ready to begin our

          4  hearing. Today started the budget hearings of the

          5  Preliminary Budget, so you will see members coming

          6  and going simply because there are Commissioners

          7  coming before the Finance and the respective

          8  committees.

          9                 Let me also acknowledge the presence,

         10  and I know that she is downstairs and she is coming

         11  up, but let's start with Council Member Jose Rivera,

         12  from the Bronx, a member of this Committee. A

         13  sponsor of one of the two bills that is before us

         14  this afternoon, my colleague from Manhattan, Council

         15  Member Freed. I know that Council Member Una Clarke

         16  will be coming in shortly.

         17                 It says good morning, but it is

         18  afternoon, and welcome to the Committee on Health,

         19  the first hearing on Intro. Number 456, introduced

         20  by my colleague, Kathryn Freed, of Manhattan, and

         21  Intro. Number 517, introduced by myself, as the

         22  Chair of the Committee on the request of the Mayor.

         23  Both bills relate to the spaying and neutering of

         24  dogs and cats in New York City. First Intro. 517

         25  requires the spaying or neutering of all dogs or
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          2  cats before they are released from a shelter. The

          3  exceptions are:

          4                 1) If a licensed doctor certifies

          5  that the operation will endanger the animal; and

          6                 2) If the owner of the dog can prove

          7  that the dog is a certified show dog.

          8                 Intro. 517 is aimed primarily at

          9  sheltered animals, which make up only a small

         10  percentage of the dog and cat population in New York

         11  City.

         12                 According to the Humane Society of

         13  the United States, 14 percent of pets, cats and

         14  dogs, adopted or obtained by American households

         15  come from animal shelters. The majority comes from

         16  breeders, pet stores and friends, or are rescued

         17  from streets as strays.

         18                 So, if the purpose of this bill is to

         19  control overpopulation of dogs and cats, then we

         20  must find a way to spay or neuter all dogs and cats,

         21  if that is possible.

         22                 Also, Intro. 517 does have exemptions

         23  for show cats. Just this weekend, this Council

         24  hosted -- just this weekend the City hosted a cat

         25  show at the Madison Square Garden. I want to make it
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          2  perfectly clear that this Chair and this Committee

          3  do not discriminate against cats.

          4                 Intro. 456 proposes that animal

          5  owners have a choice to spay or neuter their dogs or

          6  cats, however, if they choose not to, then they will

          7  have to get a non-altered animal permit, which will

          8  cost $35. They are accepting exemptions for owners

          9  of guide dogs, hearing dogs, service and police

         10  dogs, non-residence of 30 days or less,

         11  organizations conducting research on animals and for

         12  medical reasons.

         13                 The bill sets up a dog and cat

         14  overpopulation fund, financed by the permit fees and

         15  penalties of this law, for the purpose of setting up

         16  clinics for educating the public about licensing,

         17  overpopulation, spaying, neutering of animals.

         18                 The bill requires the Department of

         19  Health to enforce this law and it could levy fines

         20  of $50 to $100 for the first violation and $100 to

         21  $500 for each violation thereafter.

         22                 The bill requires the Commissioner of

         23  the Department of Health to issue an RFP, request

         24  for proposals, for low-cost neutering clinics that

         25  are set up in all five boroughs.
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          2                 The bill also calls for an Advisory

          3  Board to be set up to consult the Commissioner on

          4  the bid for the request for proposal.

          5                 I have questions about Intro. 456

          6  concerning enforcement. Dogs are licensed in this

          7  City and maybe the Department could use these lists

          8  to enforce the law. Cats, on the other hand, are not

          9  licensed. Who will enforce this law on cat owners?

         10                 Second, I have a concern on requiring

         11  a request for proposal that may cost millions of

         12  dollars to clinics for services that are already

         13  being provided in this City. And I just throw this

         14  out for fruitful discussion, as we move along with

         15  either bill.

         16                 The Center for Animal Care and

         17  Control and other advocates already provide low cost

         18  spaying and neutering. It may not be enough,

         19  however, we just explore expanding these services.

         20                 Having said this, before I do

         21  introduce my colleague who is the introducer of one

         22  of the bills, let me call upon her, because she has

         23  an opening statement, before I call then the

         24  Commissioner of the Department of Health.

         25                 My distinguished colleague from
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          2  Manhattan, Council Member Kathryn Freed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chair.

          5                 And I want to thank you and your

          6  staff for having this hearing and working with us to

          7  have this hearing on these bills.

          8                 As you know, there are primarily two

          9  bills before you today, the bill that I sponsored is

         10  Intro. 456, and in fact, if 456 were to pass it

         11  would actually encompass and cover Intro. 517 which

         12  does only deal with shelter animals, when clearly

         13  the problems are much larger than just shelter

         14  animals.

         15                 As most people know, I have been

         16  trying to get a spay/neuter bill passed for several

         17  years now, and I believe the one thing that I have

         18  seen through this time is that we are dealing

         19  inadequately with the problem of animal control in

         20  the City of New York. In fact, it would seem that

         21  the problem is getting bigger and bigger.

         22                 Just a couple of quick figures, that

         23  at least we seem to be probably killing somewhere

         24  between 40,000 and 50,000 or more a year. I think

         25  that Intro. 517 says that there are some, we pick up
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          2  some 67,000 dogs and cats a year or 67,000 animals

          3  of which the majority is dogs and cats. That number

          4  actually seems to be going up year after year, and I

          5  think one of the reasons is that we aren't really

          6  dealing with the problem with the solution of animal

          7  control in the City, that we are spending millions

          8  and we are still not quite sure how many millions we

          9  do spend a year, it is at least five or six-million,

         10  maybe more, because some of the amounts are actually

         11  contained within the Health Department's budget. And

         12  clearly the problem is, although I think we are

         13  spending an inadequate amount of money, we still

         14  aren't dealing with the question of what to do with

         15  all of the unwanted dogs and cats.

         16                 Over the last several thousand years,

         17  humans have domesticated animals and in that time I

         18  think that we sort of made a pact with animals and I

         19  believe the animals have more or less kept up with

         20  their side of the bargain, but humans have been

         21  woefully lacking and are keeping up for the

         22  bargaining and just looking at the fact that we kill

         23  all of these dogs and cats, just looking at the

         24  question in the City of New York, and to an extent

         25  it is really unfortunate because there are a lot of
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          2  other cities and states in the United States that

          3  are doing a much better job of taking care of animal

          4  control, and in a way it is kind of an embarrassment

          5  to the City itself because while we usually say that

          6  we are the best City in America, if not the world,

          7  and we think we are on the cutting edge and that we

          8  do so many innovative programs and that we are

          9  dealing with so many legislative questions in the

         10  City, this is one area that we seem to continually

         11  not deal with, and I think we have a responsibility

         12  as legislators to bring our attention to this, to

         13  try and really resolve the problem and cut down on

         14  the unwanted numbers of dogs and cats. And clearly,

         15  the easiest way to do that is to cut down on the

         16  number that are produced.

         17                 And we have never really dealt with

         18  this question. I mean, right now you mentioned in

         19  your opening statement about licensing of dogs, we

         20  don't license cats, and yet, in truth, we license

         21  very few of them. So, we are not even dealing with

         22  the licensing question, and I think there are ways

         23  that we can deal with this.  Intro. 456, as I said,

         24  talks about requiring people to spay and neuter

         25  their animals, their dogs and cats. If you do have
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          2  breeding dogs and cats because they are show dogs or

          3  show cats, the bill does allow an exception for it,

          4  you simply have to get an animal breeding permit.

          5  But really this is aimed at a lot of very

          6  well-meaning people who have animals, who, for

          7  instance, with their dogs or cats, and it is also in

          8  Manhattan, because most people do live in small

          9  apartments because it is almost impossible to live

         10  in an apartment with an unspayed or neutered cat.

         11                 But a lot of people who have back

         12  yards who think nothing, and have for years thought

         13  nothing of letting their unspayed and unneutered

         14  dogs and cats out at night, especially cats, and let

         15  them roam and then they come home pregnant, females,

         16  obviously, and don't know what to do with all of the

         17  unwanted kittens, and I am sure you are going to

         18  hear a lot of times today some of the horrors that

         19  do happen to these unwanted dogs and cats.

         20                 One of the cats that had at home was

         21  found with her five kittens, maybe two days old,

         22  they were thrown away in a garbage can and they were

         23  wrapped up in a paper bag, and clearly the owners

         24  way of dealing with this animal and her five kittens

         25  was that they would be squashed in the back of a
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          2  Sanitation truck. I don't think that is the best way

          3  we should be dealing with this, and certainly as a

          4  City I don't think we should be doing anything that

          5  in any way seems to condone it or doesn't address

          6  the problem.

          7                 As I said, the number of dogs and

          8  cats, unwanted dogs and cats every year seems to be

          9  climbing, and until we address this question we

         10  aren't going to solve it, and no matter how much

         11  money we throw at the question, the majority of

         12  these animals are going to end up on a pile of dead

         13  animals somewhere in the back of one of the City

         14  shelters and I don't think that is acceptable

         15  either.

         16                 So, what my bill requires, as you

         17  said, is a mandatory spaying and neutering of dogs

         18  and cats for the City of New York.

         19                 Without this bill passing, and

         20  without support for this, and one of the reasons we

         21  have included the RFP for the low-cost spay and

         22  neuter, is that right now there is one low-cost spay

         23  and neuter clinic in the City that works with the

         24  Center for Animal Care and Control and they do do

         25  vouchers with a lot of vets, but the truth is we are
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          2  not getting at the problem. And unless the law of

          3  the City of New York is that people must spay and

          4  neuter their animals, I don't think we are ever

          5  going to solve the problem.

          6                 We need the weight of law behind

          7  this. The carrot and the stick approach has so far

          8  failed to work, and I would hope that we would look

          9  at this today. I would welcome your support for

         10  this, obviously it may need a little tinkering. We

         11  welcome working with the Administration to make sure

         12  that we address their concerns. We are more than

         13  happy to address the question of enforcement,

         14  although I will point out that a number of

         15  enforcement efforts, including the dogs off leashes

         16  and now the fact that the City is even picking up

         17  dogs that don't have licenses or don't have proper

         18  rabbi shots, show that if the City does want to deal

         19  with the question of how you can enforce a bill like

         20  this, clearly we can do it.

         21                 And there is the added, the added

         22  emphasis to the fact that if you do have an unspayed

         23  or unneutered animal when this is the law, that if

         24  that animal was picked up, then the fines can go as

         25  high as $500, and that also I think will be a
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          2  significant inducement to people to seriously think

          3  about spaying and neutering their animals, and the

          4  bottom line is, it is the only responsible thing to

          5  do.

          6                 So, having said that, again I thank

          7  you for this hearing, and I look forward to working

          8  with the Council. But I really believe it is

          9  absolutely necessary that we pass this bill,

         10  substantially in the form that you see before you

         11  today, otherwise we will never address this problem,

         12  and the City will continue to be weighted down by

         13  more and more unwanted dogs and cats by the killing

         14  of those animals, and also by the fact that there is

         15  a true health concern here which is that I know this

         16  Committee recently sat through a very long hearing

         17  about dangerous dogs, and yet the truth is that the

         18  majority of dog bite cases, almost 95 percent of

         19  them, are committed by unspayed and unneutered

         20  animals, specifically unneutered males, and I think

         21  that this bill will also help to address that

         22  problem, as well as the problem of the feral dog

         23  packs, as well as the problems with rabbis and other

         24  uncontrolled diseases that can attack our pets. And

         25  as I said, finally, I think it is just the humane
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          2  and the right thing to do.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

          5  Council Member. Again, let me just be clear. I don't

          6  know with the past, I can only speak about the

          7  present and the future, let me be clear that this

          8  hearing and the bills, whatever bills come before

          9  this Committee, so long as I preside, will get a

         10  fair hearing. I believe that this is the beginning

         11  of being able to not only hear from the

         12  Administration and from my colleagues, but also the

         13  public, and again, I can assure you that when it is

         14  all said and done, before either term limits sets in

         15  or I choose to, whatever the future holds, we will

         16  address this issue in this Committee, so let me be

         17  clear on that one.

         18                 Let me also introduce not only

         19  colleagues of ours who have joined us, but first,

         20  Council Member Tracy Boyland from Brooklyn, who is

         21  not a member of the Committee but has joined us, and

         22  Council Member Lloyd Henry, a member of this

         23  Committee also from Brooklyn.

         24                 Let me also say that because again

         25  the hearing is going on in the Chamber, normally a
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          2  hearing like this one would be in the Chamber,

          3  because we expect a large number of people to come

          4  an testify, but I ask for you to understand, it is a

          5  small room, there are many people in here and I ask

          6  you to cooperate with us in terms of trying to keep

          7  the volume down because sometimes we get distracted.

          8                 Having said that, let me then call

          9  upon the person who has to implement whatever we

         10  decide to do when all is said and done in terms of

         11  any bill that gets passed and signed by the Mayor,

         12  in this case I believe both bills, and directs the

         13  Department of Health before us -- it is always good

         14  to see my friend Dr. Neal Cohen, and not only the

         15  Commissioner of the Department of Health but also

         16  the Commissioner of the Department of Mental Health,

         17  Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services, but I

         18  believe today he is here wearing the hat of

         19  Commissioner of Health.

         20                 I also see at the table, although I

         21  am assuming you will take a lead in your testimony,

         22  Marilyn Haggerty-Blume, who is the Executive

         23  Director of the Center for Animal Care and Control.

         24                 Having said that, Commissioner, it is

         25  always good seeing you. Of course we are going to be
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          2  seeing each other more than once since we now will

          3  start the budget process, and I believe you are down

          4  to come next week; but having said that, again,

          5  welcome before the Committee once again.

          6                 Commissioner Neal Cohen, please

          7  proceed with your testimony.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Good afternoon,

          9  Chairman Robles, and members of the Health

         10  Committee. I would like to thank you for this

         11  opportunity to discuss Intro. 517, which is the

         12  Administration's bill relating to the spaying or

         13  neutering of lost, strayed or homeless animals.

         14                 In 1998, approximately 64,000 dogs,

         15  cats and other animals entered the system of the

         16  Center for Animal Care and Control, also known as

         17  CACC, which is under contract with the City of New

         18  York.

         19                 Nearly 30,000 of these animals were

         20  stray dogs and cats, and it is estimated that

         21  approximately 70 percent of these 30,000 were not

         22  spayed or neutered.

         23                 The Center for Animal Care and

         24  Control estimates that the cost to the City of

         25  caring for the 30,000 stray animals to be
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          2  approximately $3 million per year.

          3                 Such animals running at large and

          4  breeding help perpetuate the over population problem

          5  with which these shelters and the public must

          6  contend.

          7                 With that in mind, Intro. 517 is

          8  drafted to require that all dogs and cats leaving

          9  any licensed shelter in this City be spayed or

         10  neutered before being returned to their owners or

         11  placed for adoption.

         12                 This bill adds a new subchapter, 6-A

         13  to Chapter 3 of Title 17 of the Administrative Code

         14  in the City of New York to provide that no animal

         15  shelter or shelter for homeless animals licensed by

         16  the New York City Department of Health may release a

         17  dog or a cat to its owner or to a person adopting a

         18  dog or a cat, unless the animal is spayed or

         19  neutered.

         20                 An exception would be made for

         21  medical reasons upon the certification of a licensed

         22  veterinarian and for show dogs, provided that they

         23  are certified as having been actively shown by the

         24  American Kennel Club or the United Kennel Club.

         25                 Controlling the number of stray dogs
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          2  and cats is an important step to protect the health

          3  and safety of New York City residents.

          4                 Increasing numbers of stray animals

          5  contribute to aggressive dog packs threatening

          6  residents, the risk of rabies, and other health and

          7  safety concerns.

          8                 Stray animals are at risk for

          9  starvation and exposure, as well as vehicular

         10  accidents. Statistics show that nationwide

         11  approximately 90 percent of the millions of cats

         12  that are killed on our roads each year are

         13  unsterilized and approximately 80 percent of dogs

         14  hit by vehicles each year are unneutered males.

         15                 Unaltered animals have a significant

         16  negative impact on the animal population problem by

         17  directly contributing to it.

         18                 According to the Humane Society

         19  nationwide, for every person that is born there are

         20  15 dogs and there are 45 cats that are also born.

         21  One unspayed female cat and one unneutered male cat

         22  and their offspring can produce 420,000 kittens in

         23  seven years and one unspayed female dog and one

         24  unneutered male dog and their offspring can produce

         25  4,372 puppies in seven years.
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          2                 Neutered or spayed animals, in

          3  addition to not being able to breed, are also less

          4  likely to roam and are also less likely to bite.

          5                 Unaltered animals often exhibit more

          6  behavior and temperament problems than those that

          7  had been spayed or neutered.

          8                 According to CACC, approximately 90

          9  percent of all biting dogs held at their shelters

         10  are not spayed or neutered.

         11                 According to the Centers for Disease

         12  Control and Prevention, the CDC, the number of

         13  reported dog bites nationwide has shown a steady

         14  increase in recent years.

         15                 An estimated 4 million to 5 million

         16  dog bites occur each year nationwide. More than 60

         17  percent of victims of these bites are children.

         18  Every year in the United States dog bites cause

         19  about 20 deaths, and an estimated 750,000 injuries

         20  resulting in the need for medical attention or

         21  restricted activity.

         22                 In addition, the CDC recently

         23  reported that dog bites have become the number one

         24  reason why children may visit hospital emergency

         25  rooms.
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          2                 There are also certain health

          3  benefits to spaying and neutering dogs and cats.

          4  According to the ASPCA, a spayed or neutered animal

          5  will live a longer and healthier life. For example,

          6  an unspayed female may develop infections of the

          7  uterus or mammary cancer. Mammary cancer affects

          8  nearly one in ten female dogs who are not spayed,

          9  but it is quite rare in spayed animals, in spayed

         10  females.

         11                 As mentioned earlier, neutered male

         12  dogs are less likely to roam and fight other

         13  animals. Neutering male dogs and cats may prevent

         14  testicular tumors and prostate problems. Neutering

         15  also decreases the possibility of perianal tumors

         16  and hernias which are commonly observed on older,

         17  unaltered dogs.

         18                 I would now like to take a few

         19  minutes to describe the Center for Animal Care and

         20  Control spay/neuter policies as they relate to owner

         21  redeemed animals that enter their shelter system.

         22                 CACC encourages owners reclaiming

         23  animals to authorize CACC to spay or neuter their

         24  animal before release.

         25                 CACC cannot now legally require an
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          2  animal to spay or -- require an owner to spay or

          3  neuter their animal. Unfortunately 60 percent of dog

          4  and cat owners are not allowing CACC to alter their

          5  animal before release, which speaks to the

          6  importance of enacting the Administration's bill,

          7  Intro. 517.

          8                 Intro. 517, if enacted, will now

          9  require all owner redeemed animals to be altered

         10  before leaving the shelter.

         11                 With regard to adoptions, the policy

         12  of CACC, ASPCA, BIDE-A-WEE, and the Humane Society

         13  of New York is to spay or neuter all their adopted

         14  animals before release. CACC will, however, give

         15  some animals up for adoption that have not been

         16  spayed or neutered.

         17                 In this case owners sign a contract

         18  agreeing to alter the animal and leave a mandatory

         19  deposit of $25 which is returned when the owner

         20  provides proof that the animals have been spayed or

         21  neutered.

         22                 CACC will follow up by telephone and

         23  letter to determine that owners have spayed or

         24  neutered their animal.

         25                 According to CACC, approximately 35
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          2  percent of these adopters do not provide evidence

          3  that they have spayed or neutered their animal.

          4                 The Administration's bill, Intro.

          5  517, would remedy this deficiency by prohibiting

          6  CACC and other New York City shelters, licensed by

          7  the Department of Health, from releasing any animals

          8  to owners or adopters, unless the animals are first

          9  spayed or neutered.

         10                 I would now like to briefly comment

         11  on another piece of legislation relating to the

         12  spaying and neutering of animals being discussed

         13  today, Intro. 456.

         14                 While we support the goals of Intro.

         15  456, the Department of Health believes that the

         16  Administration's bill, Intro. 517, is a more

         17  efficient and cost effective alternative to this

         18  proposal.

         19                 Intro. 456 would amend Chapter 3 of

         20  Title 17 of the Administrative Code, adding a new

         21  subchapter 7, which would prohibit owning or

         22  harboring an unaltered dog or cat over six months

         23  old in New York City unless the owner had a permit

         24  issued by the Department of Health allowing for

         25  exceptions, such as guide dogs and research
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          2  institutions.

          3                 Annual fees for permits for unaltered

          4  animals would be $35, violators would be fined not

          5  less than $50 for the first violation and between

          6  $100 and $500 for each subsequent violation.

          7                 Violations are to be adjudicated

          8  through the Administrative Tribunal, but the

          9  Department may dismiss the violation if the owner

         10  can demonstrate that the dog or cat was altered

         11  within 30 days after the violation, or within 90

         12  days after giving birth if the animal was pregnant

         13  when the violation was issued.

         14                 Also, the bill would require the

         15  Department to issue an RFP soliciting proposals to

         16  operate one or more low cost spay/neuter clinics in

         17  each borough.

         18                 The Department supports the concept

         19  of encouraging spaying and neutering of dogs and

         20  cats in New York City. However, Intro. 456 is a

         21  complicated and cumbersome bill that would be

         22  prohibitively expensive to administer and would be

         23  virtually impossible to enforce, since among other

         24  reasons, it is extremely difficult to determine

         25  whether an animal has in fact been altered by mere
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          2  visual inspection.

          3                 In the case of cats which are

          4  unlicensed, the Department only has a record of

          5  their existence when their rabies vaccination status

          6  has been reported to the Department of Health, or

          7  they are in the custody of the Center for Animal

          8  Care and Control.

          9                 Provisions of law relating to animal

         10  control are enforceable by the Parks, Police and

         11  Sanitation Departments and the Center for Animal

         12  Care and Control who do not have access to the

         13  Department of Health records of an animal spay and

         14  neuter status.

         15                 Moreover, there is currently a state

         16  program, the Animal Population Control Program,

         17  which subsidizes the costs of spaying and neutering

         18  of dogs or cats adopted from approved ASPCA, Humane

         19  Society, municipal shelters, dog or cat protective

         20  associations.

         21                 The New York State Animal Population

         22  Control Program is currently funded by a $3

         23  surcharge on the dog license fee for unaltered dogs.

         24  A person adopting a dog or a cat from a shelter may

         25  receive a voucher that entitles the recipient to
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          2  spay or neuter service for $30 from currently 62

          3  veterinarians in New York City.

          4                 The State Voucher Program, which

          5  makes veterinary services much more widely

          6  accessible and the establishment of a few designated

          7  clinics as proposed by Intro. 456, should be

          8  expanded to include animals other than animals

          9  adopted from a shelter.

         10                 The Department plans to explore this

         11  idea or expansion with the state.

         12                 Under Intro. 456, permit fees and

         13  penalties would be used for the enforcement of new

         14  subchapter 7, to establish clinic services for

         15  altering animals owned by low-income residents or

         16  senior citizens, and for public education programs.

         17                 The bill also would require the

         18  Department to issue an RFP soliciting proposals from

         19  Humane Societies and licensed veterinarians to

         20  operate one or more low cost spay/neuter clinics in

         21  each borough within 60 days of the effective date of

         22  the law.

         23                 The Commissioner of Health would be

         24  required to appoint an 11-member advisory council

         25  which is to be consulted in preparation of the RFPs
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          2  and evaluation of the proposals.

          3                 The Commissioner would then be

          4  required to select one or more of these

          5  organizations, or veterinarians to operate clinics

          6  within 120 days of the effective date of the law.

          7                 At the present time the Department of

          8  Health does not have the structure, the

          9  infrastructure or database necessary to implement or

         10  enforce such a broad and complex program.

         11                 The proposed fees and penalties would

         12  not generate sufficient revenue to establish a

         13  database, support low-cost spay/neuter clinics, and

         14  also cover the costs of additional staff necessary

         15  for enforcement and educational activities that are

         16  called for by Intro. 456.

         17                 Of the total 92,651 dog licenses that

         18  were sold during Fiscal Year 1998, 41 percent or

         19  39,351 were issued for unaltered dogs. Based on this

         20  data, the proposed $35 unaltered annual permit fee,

         21  if collectible, could generate at most $1.4 million,

         22  which is far short of the amount that we believe is

         23  needed to implement this bill.

         24                 Although we know that there are a

         25  number of unlicensed owned dogs in the City, we have
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          2  no means of estimating their number with any

          3  accuracy and there is absolutely no data on the

          4  total cat population.

          5                 Given the difficulty of locating and

          6  identifying violators, the revenue generated by

          7  fines was not expected to be large.

          8                 Additional staff would also be

          9  required to develop the RFP and administer and

         10  monitor the contracts.

         11                 Under the City's current contracting

         12  procedures, the processing time allotted for the RFP

         13  is also unrealistic. The bill calls for a low-cost

         14  spay/neuter services to New York City pet owners,

         15  who are senior citizens, defined as over the age of

         16  65 and low income, defined as those persons and

         17  families whose incomes do not exceed 80 percent of

         18  the median income for New York City metropolitan

         19  area.

         20                 This would require the City and

         21  clinics to establish and administer an eligibility

         22  system that would significantly add to the

         23  administrative and cost burden.

         24                 In closing, for all the reasons

         25  stated above, the Department of Health is unable to
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          2  support Intro. 456.

          3                 I would like to reiterate that the

          4  Administration's bill, Intro. 517, is a rather

          5  simple, direct and cost-effective, as well as

          6  enforceable approach to the City's animal

          7  overpopulation problem.

          8                 Intro. 517 would enlist the New York

          9  City shelter system in combatting the overpopulation

         10  of dogs and cats in New York City by requiring that

         11  all dogs and cats leaving a shelter licensed by the

         12  Department of Health be spayed and neutered, before

         13  being either returned to their owners or placed for

         14  adoption.

         15                 I urge you to support and vote on

         16  this important piece of legislation, and, again, I

         17  would like to thank you for the opportunity to

         18  testify before the Committee, and now I and Ms.

         19  Haggerty-Blume will be happy to answer any of your

         20  questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

         22  Commissioner.

         23                 Before I start with the questions,

         24  let me again acknowledge colleagues of mine who have

         25  joined us.
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          2                 First as senior member and the former

          3  Chairman of this Committee, Council Member Morty

          4  Povman from Queens. I see the Chair of the

          5  Subcommittee of this Committee on Mental Health,

          6  Mental Retardation and Alcohol Services, my

          7  colleague from Brooklyn Council Member Una Clarke.

          8  My distinguished colleague who represents two

          9  boroughs, one in Manhattan, one in the Bronx, but I

         10  believe physically lives in Manhattan, Council

         11  Member Phil Reed, and I think I introduced the other

         12  colleagues.

         13                 Okay, Commissioner, let me ask you,

         14  so at least we have an idea, how much was the

         15  contract between the Department and the Center for

         16  Animal Care and Control in Fiscal Year '98 and what

         17  is that in this Fiscal Year since we are now doing

         18  the budget hearings?

         19                 Do me a favor, when you get so

         20  technical, when we lost the manual stenographer and

         21  we have tapes, so please identify yourself for the

         22  record so that we know who is speaking.

         23                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Sure. I am

         24  Marilyn Haggerty-Blume, Executive Director for the

         25  Center for Animal Care and Control.
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          2                 Unlike the City, the Center for

          3  Animal Care and Control works on a calendar year

          4  budget.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, with all

          6  due respect, and that is why I need the

          7  Commissioner, we do not work on calendar year. What

          8  is the Fiscal dollar contract between the City and

          9  CACC? I can't believe that you have a contract which

         10  goes calendar years when we do fiscal years.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, that

         12  is a three-year contract.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The amount is

         15  $16.5 million.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And of the $16.5

         17  million in three years, what is it each fiscal year?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is roughly

         19  $5.4 million to $5.5 million each year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, thank you.

         21                 How long does the contract last and

         22  who in this Department monitors this contract to

         23  make sure that CACC is honoring whatever the

         24  contract between you and them and that we are

         25  getting the services that we are paying out?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have a Bureau

          3  of Veterinary Public Health Services that has

          4  oversight responsibility, as well as our contract

          5  monitoring activity.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that I

          7  understand it, you have someone within your agency

          8  in essence who evaluates this contract; is that what

          9  you are saying to me?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that every

         12  year we can see an evaluation of the contract is

         13  that what you are saying to me?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Would you please

         16  provide for this chair, this contract, since I

         17  assumed the Chairmanship, which will be Fiscal Year

         18  '98?

         19                 I would be curious also just to see

         20  the difference, what Fiscal Year '97 was when it

         21  comes to the evaluation.

         22                 In other words, this contract started

         23  when, sir? Three years, $16.3 million, the next

         24  three years anywhere between $5.4 million to $5.5

         25  million.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: This contract

          3  began in January. January 1, 1998.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. So, in the

          5  Fiscal Year '98 we should have an evaluation so that

          6  the Fiscal Year that just ended, you are talking

          7  about, you said January of '98, sir?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We should be able

          9  to provide you. We would have an evaluation for 1998

         10  activity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: You would have, I

         12  am sorry, I lost that.

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: An evaluation of

         14  the performance of the Center for Animal Control in

         15  1998, we will share the documents with you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Wait. I am really

         17  lost and I am sorry. I guess Monday morning

         18  hearings. Let me start again.

         19                 When did the contract actually start

         20  between the Department of Health and CACC?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman

         22  Robles, this is the second contract.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         24  that. Thank you. So, we have the first one. This is

         25  a renewal?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, now, in the

          4  first contract which was signed, sealed, delivered

          5  for the next three years, is what you are saying to

          6  me, you had a contract, a contract that runs $16.3

          7  million for three years, correct? So that the actual

          8  signing of the contract for the next three years, so

          9  this must be year two. In Fiscal Year '99 it will be

         10  year two, correct?

         11                 I know what you are going to say to

         12  me about calendar year, but that is not the way we

         13  do the budget of the City.

         14                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Our contract is

         15  absolutely based on a calendar year budget and is

         16  done three years in the Department of Health's

         17  budget, so it covers two and a half of their fiscal

         18  years.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: All right, if our

         20  finance people are here, here is where I am having a

         21  problem. I am not aware that we do calendar budgets,

         22  we do fiscal years. And it is hard for me to

         23  understand whether $16.3 million is going to be

         24  spent in the next three years, and now we are doing

         25  Fiscal Year 2000, where right now we are doing for
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          2  June, we will end Fiscal Year '99 on June 30th of

          3  this year, which started July 1 of last year. I am

          4  trying to understand when did this contract start,

          5  since in fairness to me, although I have been on

          6  this Committee for 14 years, I became the Chairman

          7  January 1 of '99, I understand that, but I don't get

          8  paid on calendar year, I get paid also on Fiscal

          9  year, I just need to understand what this contract

         10  is. So before we get into all, you know, one bill,

         11  the other bill, what one bill does do, the other

         12  bill doesn't do, and you talked about financing, for

         13  me as the chairman to set the tone, I need to know

         14  exactly when did this contract fiscally start in

         15  your agency in the fiscal year. It had to start in a

         16  fiscal year.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It started on the

         18  third quarter, January 1.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, of ninety?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, it is

         21  Fiscal Year '99.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So this contract,

         23  now this contract we are talking about now is the

         24  second year, correct? Or is this the first year?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: This is the
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          2  second fiscal year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine.

          4                 So, since this is the second fiscal

          5  year, then my question is, did you evaluate for the

          6  first year, since -- see, I was around when they

          7  were not called what they are called now, and we

          8  have changed it because we were having problems. And

          9  someone told us, and I was around, I wasn't chairman

         10  but I was around, said we change it, it is going to

         11  get better.

         12                 So, in order for me to understand,

         13  because as I said to the Councilwoman, in the next

         14  three years, I may be a lame duck, but I am not a

         15  dead duck, we will deal with this issue and health

         16  issues across the Board and that is a commitment

         17  that you have I have made to each other.

         18                 If you started January of '98, for

         19  the second round, which is within the Fiscal Year of

         20   -- you are right, the second half of the Fiscal

         21  Year '99, what happened to Fiscal Year '98, since

         22  you are into the second year? There had to be six

         23  months of the last Fiscal Year, '98, and my question

         24  is, I am assuming that if you say to me that you

         25  didn't evaluate it, then say it.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We do have annual

          3  evaluations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: And we have an

          6  evaluation for '97 and for '98 and we would be happy

          7  to share that with you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine, so

          9  there is. All right, fine, Commissioner. I accept

         10  that, okay?

         11                 Let me ask you one more question and

         12  then I will open it up to my colleagues, because

         13  there are several questions I would like to ask.

         14                 But in Intro. 517 it calls for

         15  mandatory spay and neutering; are you aware that

         16  most, if not all, shelters do not release cats from

         17  adoption without spay and neutering for dogs/cats

         18  over six months?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, we are.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         21                 And in the same bill it is silent as

         22  far as what age is appropriate for spay and

         23  neutering. At what age do you think it is safe for

         24  an animal to be altered? COMMISSIONER COHEN:

         25  Councilman, we have not stipulated a specific age in
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          2  the bill. We understand that increasingly

          3  veterinarians report to us that spaying an neutering

          4  is entirely safe and appropriate. Certainly at this

          5  point we look at 16 weeks, but it is our goal to be

          6  able to offer spay and neutering services at eight

          7  weeks, and we believe there are no health reasons

          8  that would preclude us from being able to do it at

          9  that time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, Council

         11  Member Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Commissioner,

         13  I am looking just for a broad picture of how animals

         14  are treated. I know that dogs are licensed, are cats

         15  also? Is there any requirement so that in the whole

         16  control of animals we know exactly what we are doing

         17  with each category? So, give me the difference

         18  between the ways in which if you were to get a cat,

         19  versus a dog, how things would be handled? You know,

         20  this is not my forte in terms of health, so I want

         21  to have a good sense of what animal control, what

         22  your role is, what we are paying for with this

         23  money, inasmuch as you use a calendar year, we use a

         24  fiscal year, I want to see how this money serves the

         25  animal control issue.
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          2                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Currently there

          3  is a law that requires dogs in the City of New York

          4  to be licensed. It is a New York State dog licensing

          5  law that applies to New York City.

          6                 There is no similar law, either on a

          7  local level or on a state level requiring the

          8  licensing for cats.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay. Would

         10  you then do the same spay neutering to cats or dogs,

         11  whoever would come in?

         12                 MS HAGGERTY-BLUME: Under Intro. 517

         13  every companion animal, dog or cat, that came into

         14  the shelter and was leaving the shelter either

         15  through adoption or return to owner, would be spayed

         16  or neutered accordingly, whether it was a dog or a

         17  cat.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay, I came

         19  to the City Council when we still had ASPCA before

         20  you, you know, this agency came in; can you tell me

         21  what kind of improvements through your agency versus

         22  what we had before, what are the qualitative

         23  difference that there is?

         24                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Well, I am not

         25  really familiar with what existed when it was the
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          2  ASPCA, because I was not involved, nor was I don't

          3  anything that would have involved me with the ASPCA.

          4                 I can speak to very generally what we

          5  are doing now, but I am not sure that that all

          6  speaks to the purpose why we are here today.

          7                 But we have --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: For me to get

          9  a broad view of what you do so that when I vote I

         10  want to know what you do, because I want to vote

         11  based on being informed.

         12                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Right. Okay.

         13                 The Center for Animal Care and

         14  Control took in just under 64,000 animals last year,

         15  which was about 4,500 animals less than the year

         16  before.

         17                 We also euthanized fewer than 40,000

         18  animals last year, which was a decline in the number

         19  of animals, and that is often the measure by which

         20  people decide whether you are doing a good or bad

         21  job.

         22                 I don't necessarily think that is the

         23  only measure of whether you are doing a good or bad

         24  job.

         25                 We specifically reduced euthanasia of
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          2  adoptable and treatable animals significantly by

          3  working with direct adoptions, as well as with the

          4  many organizations and individuals in the City who

          5  are often referred to as rescuers and really have in

          6  this year worked much more closely with us in

          7  getting animals out of our shelters and into future

          8  homes.

          9                 We have increased the preventive

         10  medication and preventive medical services that we

         11  provide to all of the animals that come into our

         12  shelter and we are one of the few shelters in the

         13  country that test all cats for feline leukemia upon

         14  admission to the shelter, it is a highly contagious

         15  illness.

         16                 We have made other improvements in

         17  terms of the care of the animals. We certainly

         18  improved the facility in Brooklyn, it is nearing

         19  completion and we anticipate starting on the

         20  complete renovation of the facility in Manhattan

         21  which is desperately needed sometime later this

         22  summer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before I call
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          2  Council Member Freed let me, because I am still

          3  trying to deal with budget since we are doing

          4  budget.

          5                 Today you were quoted Ms.

          6  Haggerty-Blume in the Daily News as saying that the

          7  City will pay for the spay/neutering of animals and

          8  not the owners with $1 million allocated in the

          9  budget.

         10                 Number one, Commissioner, when you

         11  come next week, I am assuming that if I look at your

         12  current budget that I will find this amount in your

         13  budget?

         14                 Well, let me say, it was quoted; is

         15  the quote correct, number one?

         16                 Number two, is this amount enough?

         17  And if not, where will the extra money come from?

         18                 And I say again, I heard you said

         19  about my colleague's bill and I heard you say about

         20  the Administration's bill, I need to know in terms

         21  of dollars and cents as we move forward.

         22                 One, was the quote correct?

         23                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: First of all, it

         24  is a statement attributed to me, but not a quote.

         25  And yes, the million dollars is about what we have
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          2  estimated it would cost us to implement this

          3  program. That would not cover --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Which program are

          5  you referring to?

          6                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Just the

          7  spay/neuter program.

          8                 If the bill were to be put into

          9  effect, Intro. 517.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         11                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: And no, that

         12  doesn't cover everything because, remember, adopters

         13  are already paying an adoption fee which in part

         14  pays for the spay/neutering of those animals.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now,

         16  Commissioner, it is anticipated that if the bill

         17  passes and gets implemented there will be a million

         18  dollars. My question is, the Mayor has proposed its

         19  Preliminary Budget currently for your agency, is

         20  this money earmarked in the budget?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't believe

         22  that it is.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that between

         24  now and when we adopt, somewhere along the line we

         25  are going to have to deal with this appropriation of
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          2  funds, correct?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And in fairness

          5  again to what was said this morning, and you were

          6  the Commissioner, and you must take the lead, is it

          7  the agency's position similarly to do exactly what

          8  was stated in the article by a contract out, not by

          9  the agency, that if we pass the bill we are

         10  committing ourselves to exactly what was said and

         11  the cost will be $1 million plus?

         12                 Have you seen the article? Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I would say at

         14  this point the analysis of the million dollars -- we

         15  would have to do a very detailed breakdown and come

         16  up with an appropriate figure, because I think this

         17  was an estimation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But my question

         19  is the following: Now I am addressing it to the

         20  City, and you as the Commissioner, will have to

         21  implement.

         22                 The question is: Is it going to be

         23  the City's position to pay for spaying and neutering

         24  of all animals and not the owners? And in doing

         25  that, then it is anticipated we will need about a
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          2  million dollars; is that the City's position, not a

          3  statement?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is fair to say

          5  that in this legislation we are able to reduce the

          6  burden on the adopter or the owner for the fees that

          7  are currently charged. We see the fee coming to

          8  approximately $40 and therefore would need to be an

          9  additional budgetary allocation to compensate for

         10  what the adopters would not be asked to pay for.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, I want to

         12  make sure I understand what is being said here.

         13                 Currently the fee cost would be about

         14  $40, that is what you are saying to me, correct,

         15  Commissioner? That is what you just said?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, that's

         17  correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that if this

         19  bill or whatever bill gets passed, and to implement

         20  what is being said, then the $40 currently being

         21  charged will not go away, it will continue to be

         22  charged, but then we are going to supplement; is

         23  that what you are saying to me?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.
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          2                 So, the supplement will then, the

          3  additional cost that would have been put on the

          4  owner's expense; is that what you are saying to me?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, Council

          7  Member Freed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 Just to follow up on a couple of the

         11  questions about cost, you said that the contract now

         12  is for roughly 16 million for the next three years.

         13  Now, I know in the last three years it was roughly

         14  the same but there were a lot of costs that were

         15  picked up, for instance, by the Department of Health

         16  or other City agencies, so if you were to include

         17  that, like in the last three years if you were to

         18  look at the extra costs, do we know how much extra

         19  was picked up, for instance, by the Department of

         20  Health? Because I know that the Department of

         21  Health, for instance, paid for the computer system

         22  to be set up, and that wouldn't have been reflected

         23  in the cost for CACC.

         24                 And I am also wondering if the cost

         25  of the renovations for the shelters in both Brooklyn
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          2  and Manhattan would be reflected in that?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I would have to

          4  get that information for you, Councilwoman, as to

          5  exactly what the additional costs have been assumed

          6  by the Department.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: So, when we are

          8  talking about 16 million for three years, that is

          9  like a minimum?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And it could be

         12  more.

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: And it could be

         14  more.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Do you know,

         16  for instance, do we have an idea as to how much more

         17  -- I know we are doing a renovation of the Brooklyn

         18  shelter, how much more that is going to cost or how

         19  much that is going to cost us?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Oh, the Brooklyn

         21  Shelter Project is a $3.3 million estimate.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, and that

         23  doesn't come out of the $16 million; am I correct?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I want to make

         25  sure of that. So, the cost then, then the cost comes
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          2  out of the city?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right.

          4                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: The City owns our

          5  buildings, and the capital project is --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, in the

          7  capital budget.

          8                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: -- The capital

          9  budget.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And I guess the

         11  tape didn't pick up the fact that Ms. Blume shook

         12  her head, no, it wasn't included.

         13                 And is that also true for the cost of

         14  the Manhattan shelter? And how much was that?

         15                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Yes, all the

         16  capital projects that are underway or anticipated

         17  are out of the capital budget and the Manhattan

         18  Project is at about $3.7 million.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         20                 And I think there is like $3 million

         21  or $4 million in the budget somewhere for Queens

         22  shelter; is that accurate?

         23                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: There is an

         24  amount of money in the budget for Queens. The exact

         25  dollars, I am not sure.
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          2                 We took some of that money and moved

          3  it over to finish the Manhattan project with an

          4  anticipation when we find the site in Queens we will

          5  restore the money.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. That

          7  money for the Queens shelter, is that -- will that

          8  roll over?

          9                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         11                 Now, one other thing about, the

         12  million dollars that was cited in the Daily News

         13  article, that is an annual fee; is that correct?

         14  That is an annual fee? That is what you are assuming

         15  would be your bill, 517 will cost the City annually?

         16                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Not all of it

         17  would be annually, because some of it includes an

         18  up-front purchase of the equipment necessary to be

         19  able to perform surgeries in the buildings that we

         20  currently have, so a percentage of that would be

         21  fixed costs that would not recur each year, but we

         22  would estimate between 500, and 600,000 would

         23  probably reoccur.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         25                 And can you also tell me, as my
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          2  understanding, your current practice with the

          3  vouchering for veterinarians, I think you give what,

          4  $30? Is that what it is?

          5                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: There are two

          6  different programs that are used.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right.

          8                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: If the adopter,

          9  does not use a state participating veterinarian,

         10  which would allow us to use a state voucher program,

         11  we reimburse those, our directly participating vets,

         12  between $35 and $45, depending on the age and size

         13  and sex of the animal being neutered, and the

         14  adopter gets a certificate and the vet returns it to

         15  us with the appropriate indications of what it is

         16  they performed and they reimbursed.

         17                 Upon receipt of that certificate,

         18  which is only affiliated with CACC, the adopter gets

         19  their $25 deposit back.

         20                 The State voucher program is if the

         21  vet is a participating vet with the state program

         22  and the adopter chooses that vet, the co-pay, which

         23  is a $30 co-pay normally is picked up by the

         24  adopter, CACC uses our certificate to cover that

         25  co-payment. So, even in those instances, the adopter
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          2  has no out-of-pocket costs for the spay/neuter.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And how much

          4  does it cost CACC? How much annually do we pay on

          5  this program?

          6                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: I will be happy

          7  to -- I don't want to read off a number, but I will

          8  be happy to provide that number directly to you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Do you have a

         10  ball park?

         11                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: It is hundreds of

         12  thousands of dollars that we pay in spay-neuter

         13  services.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It is what, a

         16  thousand?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Hundreds of

         18  thousands.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Hundreds of

         20  thousands.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         22                 And then you mentioned the state

         23  program. Are we now participating in that? Because I

         24  know for awhile there we weren't.

         25                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: We weren't
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          2  participating in the State program because the

          3  regulations of the state program precluded us

          4  because the adopter had to make a decision at the

          5  point of adoption in order for us to complete the

          6  paperwork accordingly.

          7                 We have been in discussions with the

          8  state as to the fact that that program really did

          9  not serve the population it was intended to serve,

         10  and as of January '99, the State did authorize us to

         11  issue the vouchers without the adopter,

         12  pre-determining what they were going to use.

         13                 If they go to a vet who is a

         14  non-state participating vet, the voucher becomes

         15  void and just goes back into the general funds.

         16                 So, by that slight change we have

         17  been able to use it more than we could have in the

         18  past.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. I didn't

         20  want to belabor the cost question, but in looking at

         21  the major, I guess some of the major, your major

         22  objections to 456, that was certainly one of them,

         23  the question about the Administration perhaps being

         24  overly burdened, I would be more than happy to work

         25  with the Department of Health or the CACC, if there
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          2  is some way to streamline that it would certainly be

          3  fine with me, because I do believe that there are

          4  still a lot of dogs and cats that we aren't going to

          5  get to if we just deal with the shelter population.

          6  And that in the long run would just increase your

          7  burden and it would just increase the cost to all of

          8  us of dealing with the unwanted animal population.

          9                 Because I attended a meeting of the

         10  Board of the CACC I guess two years ago, I know it

         11  was before Ms. Blume was the head of it, and at that

         12  time there was an organization that was set up by

         13  the Haros (phonetic) that has been literally setting

         14  up low-cost spay/neuter clinics throughout the

         15  United States, and their estimate at the time was

         16  that they could probably do, and this was like, sort

         17  of like, kind of like the assembly line low-cost

         18  spay/neuter, where they had vets who would simply

         19  come in, they would provide the facilities and it

         20  would simply do a large number of spaying and

         21  neutering during the time that the clinic was open,

         22  and this has been done in a number of other cities,

         23  including like Los Angeles, and where they also have

         24  a large pet population or uncontrolled and have had

         25  in the past problems with animal control and
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          2  population animal control, but their estimation was

          3  that to do one of these was probably a maximum of

          4  $200,000 and in fact they found that where there was

          5  a matching of this, the City could probably set one

          6  up for 100,000 and in every instance when they had

          7  set up these low-cost spay/neuter clinics, they

          8  became self-paying for in one year's time.

          9                 So, if that could be done under my

         10  bill, and that is kind of the RFP that we are

         11  looking for, why would then that not ultimately save

         12  us a lot more money even in your bill that you are

         13  now looking at?

         14                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: When we put out

         15  an RFP about a year ago for vets to participate with

         16  us in low-cost spay/neuter, we got five responses

         17  from the entire veterinary community in New York

         18  City, because most of them had indicated they did

         19  not want to do the surgeries at that reduced rate.

         20  And we believe, and I don't know, I believe this is

         21  an anecdotal belief, not that there is any proof,

         22  but there was originally an assumption that if you

         23  brought your cat or dog to the veterinarian for the

         24  surgery, that the veterinarian had reason to believe

         25  that you would become an ongoing client, a patient
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          2  of his clinic, and therefore the reduced cost of the

          3  surgery would result in a life-long partnership of

          4  you and the health of your animal, and many people

          5  participating in low-cost spay/neuter clinics don't

          6  pursue the annual preventive medication and

          7  preventive services of a vet that actually is what

          8  makes money for them.

          9                 So, we found that only five vets

         10  responded to our RFP, and three of them were the

         11  vets that we were already using by contract.

         12                 So, I am somewhat concerned about

         13  whether or not there is really that interest out

         14  there for that.

         15                 We, however, do plan to open the

         16  clinic that is in the Brooklyn shelter as a low-cost

         17  spay/neuter clinic, not only for shelter animals,

         18  but for the community in Brooklyn, and hope that

         19  within 12 to 18 months we could also have that be a

         20  self-sustaining clinic.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. Because,

         22  again, the clinics I am referring to, while there

         23  would be a reduced or no cost to people who were low

         24  income or seniors, everyone, anyone else, they would

         25  be open to everyone to bring their animals to and in
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          2  every instance, as I said they paid for themselves

          3  after one year, and in point of fact, in cities that

          4  have done this, there has not been a drop-off in the

          5  relationship between the veterinarians and the

          6  clients. In fact, in many cases the veterinarians

          7  apparently referred their clients to these low-cost

          8  neuter clinics and then the individuals came back to

          9  those vets, so in fact there was a partnership that

         10  did evolve with the veterinarians and there were no

         11  veterinarians who were injured by it, in fact they

         12  benefitted by it.

         13                 Okay, no further questions at this

         14  time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me.

         16                 Commissioner Cohen, these centers

         17  that are contracted out, they are located in all

         18  boroughs or four boroughs and usually Staten Island,

         19  by the way, gets carried over by Brooklyn; is that

         20  fair to say?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We have in every

         22  borough, we have Bronx, Queens, and Brooklyn. Bronx

         23  and Queens receive animals, we have full service

         24  centers in Staten Island and Brooklyn and Manhattan.

         25  So there is activity and there are sites in every
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          2  borough.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Within public

          4  buildings?

          5                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: The City owns the

          6  facilities in Manhattan, Brooklyn and Staten Island.

          7  The facilities in the Bronx and Queens are

          8  storefronts and they are leased. Not in public

          9  buildings.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And the only

         11  reason I am doing this is because next week, you

         12  know, it is like the light went on, we are going to

         13  have to deal with this because I just had them go

         14  out and get me my book on the budget, and I looked

         15  at the capital budget, and let me just say that if

         16  you plan on any program in the Brooklyn site,

         17  according to what I am seeing here, is this

         18  renovation the one on Linden Boulevard? Are you

         19  aware that that project has been pushed out to the

         20  Year 2000?

         21                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: No. There are two

         22  projects in Brooklyn.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, then help

         24  me out.

         25                 According to this I see that the
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          2  Queens animal shelter, okay, that project has been

          3  pushed out and funding reduced by 43 percent. Now is

          4  that a location that is not in a public building?

          5                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: The Queens

          6  facility right now is a leased facility. We are

          7  looking for a site to open a facility that is

          8  similar to that which is in Staten Island, which

          9  would be a City-owned full service facility for the

         10  Borough of Queens.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go back to

         12  Brooklyn.

         13                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: In Brooklyn we

         14  have two different facilities. A facility that we

         15  are occupying right at the moment is undergoing a

         16  renovation that should be complete in April of 1999.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And that location

         18  is a public building?

         19                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: That location is

         20  a publicly-owned building.

         21                 There is a building adjacent to the

         22  Brooklyn shelter which we requested the right to

         23  use, and the City granted that right and two and a

         24  half million dollars so that we could renovate it.

         25  It is basically a derelict building right now. That
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          2  is what was pushed out to 2000, so that we could

          3  complete the existing facility, while planning what

          4  we want to use the adjacent building for.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, the

          6  only reason I bring this up is because I think that

          7  as we deal with this issue, because now, again, I

          8  have learned something that in fairness to anybody

          9  who gets contracts out and then when things go

         10  wrong, it is easy to say well, they, they, they, and

         11  I want to separate the difference between they, the

         12  contractor, and we, who actually signs the contract

         13  and is responsible for providing services, in this

         14  case the Department of Health. And I think that this

         15  is something that we have to deal with as the budget

         16  process continues to move forward. And I didn't stop

         17  my colleague because I think it was a fair question

         18  to ask, and these are not the budget hearings. But I

         19  think any legislation that impacts upon your

         20  services, and a public statement, for example,

         21  saying henceforth and the bill gets passed, we

         22  provide free spay/neutering services, and yet the

         23  actual location is not suited, and is capable of

         24  doing it, then I, for one, will not give false

         25  impressions.
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          2                 And I am not saying that

          3  disrespectfully. All I am simply saying is, whatever

          4  the past was, stops with this chair.

          5                 So, I think we need to start really

          6  addressing that so that whatever public information

          7  we give out to the public is actual factual that is

          8  going to happen and not then read about things

          9  happening and then it is well, it is the contract

         10  agency. Well, excuse me, I will deal with the

         11  contract agency through the agency which is

         12  responsible, which is the Department of Health; is

         13  that fair, Commissioner?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's fair. We

         15  will certainly be prepared next week at the budget

         16  hearing to have a full review.

         17                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: I just wanted to

         18  qualify one thing. Adopters will continue to pay an

         19  adoption fee which will continue to offset the costs

         20  for the surgeries of animals that are adopted from

         21  us. The animals that would technically be free are

         22  those that are redeemed by their owners, and that is

         23  a relatively small population of those that are

         24  placed to the organization, one that we would hope

         25  would grow over time, but it is probably under 1,000
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          2  animals right now.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: All right. Let me

          4  again, and I never professed to be a professional in

          5  health-related, but there is a reason why I chose to

          6  become Chairman of this Committee. But let me be

          7  clear so I understand in terms of the bill before

          8  us.

          9                 Again, if Intro. 517, since I am

         10  assuming that is what you are referring to when you

         11  made your statement, gets passed, and I asked you

         12  the question about a statement I read this morning

         13  in the paper as I was preparing myself for these

         14  hearings to be educated, Commissioner I asked you

         15  about if the bill gets passed, does that mean that

         16  henceforth the City of New York will provide free

         17  services, i.e. spaying and neutering of animals, and

         18  you said to me yes. As I pursued it you said, well,

         19  the cost is basically $40 which still will come out

         20  of the pockets of John Doe or Jane Doe, but we are

         21  committed to supplement whatever the cost is, I

         22  think that is what I thought I heard, to make up,

         23  and the number was a million dollars, at least, you

         24  know, ball park.

         25                 Based upon what the Executive
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          2  Director now just said, how does that fit into what

          3  we have been discussing here on the pending bills

          4  before us?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are assuming

          6  in Intro. 517 responsibility to resume the cost of

          7  spaying and neutering animals that are received at

          8  the Center for Animal Care and Control, therefore

          9  there remains a $40 redemption fee for individuals

         10  who are retrieving their animals, but under Intro.

         11  517, with very few exceptions, the costs of spaying

         12  and neutering are assumed by the City of New York.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But what I am

         14  trying to lead to, and I apologize, I am not the

         15  swiftest, but eventually I will catch up; what is

         16  the number of animals that will benefit? Or what is

         17  it we will be doing on 517 that we are not doing

         18  now?

         19                 Because I heard you say this is not

         20  about adoption, this is really about something else,

         21  and it is really a super small number, a thousand --

         22  there is where I am a little vague and I just need

         23  to understand what is it that we are really saying

         24  here?

         25                 Are we saying that through this new
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          2  program or this program in place that any animal

          3  coming through the shelter system will be spayed and

          4  neutered, if need be? Is that what you are saying to

          5  me?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct. And

          7  although --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So what is that

          9  number?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- Although the

         11  number of dogs in relation to the total population

         12  of dogs in the City is not that great, in my

         13  testimony I gave you a sense of the way that the

         14  litters in procreation create large numbers of

         15  animals so that these dogs that are currently

         16  characterized by their roaming and ending up

         17  therefore in animal shelter, are at greater risk of

         18  overpopulation and introducing a far larger number

         19  of unwanted dogs and cats in this City. So, although

         20  the current number of dogs is only a small portion

         21  of the universe of animals and cats, we think that

         22  the potential impact on the overpopulation problem

         23  will be significant.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, one more

         25  quick question, just again I am trying to understand
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          2  it.

          3                 Now, let's deal with the adoption

          4  part, which you are telling me may not fall in the

          5  same category.

          6                 What happens to a person who is on a

          7  fixed income, whether they be an elderly person, or

          8  for that matter, the community that I come from in

          9  North Brooklyn, there is a lot of people who are not

         10  elderly but cannot afford even the $40, $45,

         11  whatever the cost is, but yet believe that by doing,

         12  or rendering this service they want to help in

         13  whatever the argument is.

         14                 What happens to those people who do

         15  not or cannot afford the fee that is currently

         16  charged? And what is that fee currently? It's about

         17  $40, $45?

         18                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: The fee of

         19  redeeming your animal if it has ended up in the

         20  shelter?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Adopting.

         22                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: The adoption fee

         23  right now is $60, whether you adopt a dog or a cat.

         24  And it is our belief that it is a relatively average

         25  adoption fee, if you consider shelters across this
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          2  country.

          3                 It includes your spay/neuter cost, it

          4  includes the vaccinations for the animal, the

          5  initial health exam of the animal, as well as the

          6  microchip. The only additional cost is your dog

          7  license, if it's a dog.

          8                 If a person can't afford $60 fee for

          9  an adoption of a dog or a cat, it would call into

         10  question could they afford then the upkeep of that

         11  animal and the medical services that animal would

         12  need beyond the point at which we are responsible.

         13                 So, certainly that is one of the

         14  things we consider when we place an animal with an

         15  adopting family, is are they in fact financially

         16  able to bear the cost of adding an animal to that

         17  household.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, is it fair to

         19  say that there is no exceptions to this currently?

         20  And in the future there will not be? Is that what I

         21  am hearing.

         22                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: Exception to the

         23  adoption fee?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, right, the

         25  fee.
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          2                 MS. HAGGERTY-BLUME: The only program

          3  that we have right now that is an exception to that

          4  program is the Purina Pets for Seniors Program, and

          5  it is a program that is underwritten by Purina Pet

          6  Program, pet charities, which is a charitable arm of

          7  the Purina dog and cat food company, in which they

          8  will absolve the cost of an adoption fee for a

          9  senior citizen and we use that quite often.

         10                 But, again, we have to be certain

         11  that the senior using that program is not going to

         12  forego their own food for the sake of feeding their

         13  pet.

         14                 So, an adoption fee is a standard

         15  practice in all animal shelters across this country.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. I have no

         17  further questions, and I don't see any of my

         18  colleagues who do.

         19                 Commissioner, Madame, thank you very

         20  much for coming before us and testifying.

         21                 What we are going to do now, since I

         22  see there are a lot of people who have chosen, who

         23  have signed to testify, and to try to move this we

         24  will call at least -- I see three seats, so three

         25  persons at a time, and while I don't have a time
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          2  clock, we are going to try to make sure that we try

          3  to keep within so that everyone who is here and

          4  wants to testify can testify.

          5                 So, I ask you to, one, work with us,

          6  and while I will not restrict you, I just cannot

          7  afford to have one person read 15 pages and take 20

          8  minutes and then have one person who wants to

          9  testify and yet has to sit around.

         10                 So, having said that, I will have the

         11  Counsel to the Committee call the names, and please

         12  come up front and then identify yourself for the

         13  record.

         14                 MR. ORENGO: Paula Asch. Dr. Linda

         15  Jacobson. John Caltabiano.

         16                 MS. ASCH: Good afternoon. My name I

         17  Paula Asch. I have been coming to this City Hall for

         18  50 years. I would like to mention a few names in

         19  memory of Mr. Oliveri. I don't know if many of you

         20  were old enough to know him, City Councilman

         21  Oliveri, who was a great help to us.

         22                 Mr. Manton, who was a City

         23  Councilman, I believe, we have had several friends.

         24  In the last few years we had no friends. But when I

         25  heard the name of Ms. Kathryn Freed, who I have
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          2  never had the pleasure of meeting, but she has angel

          3  wings growing under that lovely outfit she has on,

          4  for she is our angel speaker for the people who have

          5  heavy hearts to know what is going on in the

          6  slaughter house.

          7                 In 1912 I became a humane worker, I

          8  was ten years old. Since that time I was addicted. I

          9  swore that when I get to be 85, I am going to quit

         10  and not get involved with this animal situation, but

         11  the addiction did not get cured and here I am at 95

         12  trying to help.

         13                 We have had wonderful pioneers in

         14  this work, which some of these youngsters, I call

         15  them youngsters, anybody less than 90 is a youngster

         16  to me, we have some of these people here who

         17  recognize me and remember my husband who had the

         18  loudest voice in New York. He called some of the

         19  fancy humane societies "the cocktail people", the

         20  people otherwise, he said, who rescue the animal,

         21  they are cat-tail dogtail people, they don't have

         22  pinky fingers to grow and drink the fancy drinks,

         23  they are the ones who do the rescue, the dirty work.

         24  They are the ones that recall the old lady in tennis

         25  shoes. Well, I don't wear tennis shoes or sneakers,
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          2  I am still rescuing. I still help. We have taken

          3  some of our money and given it out in grants to some

          4  of the shelters who are doing no-kill work.

          5                 I would have several suggestions,

          6  because everyone here, sitting here in back of me,

          7  has picked up stray dogs, stray cats. They are not

          8  stray, they were once owned by somebody, somebody

          9  threw them out. They got lost. So we all know the

         10  sad stories. I can tell you hundreds. I used to hate

         11  to come home because we would find boxes of puppies

         12  and sick kittens at our door.

         13                 There are several suggestions,

         14  because technically I will let the others go into

         15  it, but there are suggestions which you have

         16  overlooked in this situation.

         17                 Most of the people that read the

         18  papers are Americans. We have an explosion of

         19  immigrant people in different sections, the people

         20  get advertisements in the Daily News and the Times,

         21  whatever, where you have to go to to educate, to

         22  perform what they call operations, you will have to

         23  educate them in these different papers.

         24                 I live across the street from a

         25  school for 50 years, I have seen five generations
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          2  grow up, and they used to come to my house. I give

          3  them literature which I still carry around, and I

          4  would educate them. They are grandmothers now, they

          5  come here.

          6                 But where we used to go, I don't

          7  know, there is a new generation of foreign people

          8  there.

          9                 I have a woman who does nothing but

         10  rescue pet bulls. Where does she get them? East New

         11  York, Brownsville. She goes out all hours of the

         12  night with the police, picks up these animals that

         13  have been in fires, abandoned, I don't want to tell

         14  the stories, get into those foreign newspapers,

         15  educate your spay/neuter program. Educate these new

         16  citizens. This is where you will get it. Some men

         17  have macho feelings, they don't want to neuter their

         18  males.

         19                 I have spoken for a long time on

         20  certain subjects, look into your newspaper, every

         21  weekend there are columns of animals for sale, puppy

         22  shops, 400 species of different puppies; where do

         23  those puppies end up? They buy them, they get tired

         24  of them for whatever cause, they end up in your

         25  shelters.
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          2                 Therefore, some years ago when I was

          3  here, this is not a new experience, I was in

          4  Washington in 1948 for the slaughter bills which you

          5  know nothing about. My husband and I wrote the

          6  original bill for the pets in housing, when there

          7  were thousands of animals thrown out due to that

          8  miserable pets in housing, and we got 31,000 people

          9  to sign it.

         10                 Just the other day I seen in the

         11  paper that they were going to allow some pets in the

         12  housing. Dr. Boris Levin wrote to us. He was the

         13  founder of the animal situation to place in nursing

         14  homes. I go way, way back. We were the pioneers in

         15  picketing, we picketed the ASPCA in 1950 when the

         16  Metcaffe Hatch Bill (phonetic) came in, the pound

         17  seizure, and we were called communists, because

         18  never before had any place been picketed.

         19                 Now, I have a couple more. I would

         20  suggest that you look into this matter of the home

         21  industry of these people raising animals solely on

         22  $500, $600 whatever, that is a home industry. They

         23  are not licensed, they are not responsible, and they

         24  don't need to report this income to the government,

         25  thousands of dollars could go in for the spaying.
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          2                 I know I am taking a little longer, I

          3  am a woman of a thousand words. This has been handed

          4  to me as a reward to get a chance to speak here. And

          5  if you will know that some of my -- I call them

          6  children because they are very young -- they first

          7  came to me when they had no else place to go, to my

          8  husband, and my husband once made a statement, the

          9  newspapers interviewed him and had a very big

         10  picture, and they said what would you say that you

         11  would want to leave? He said, there are three

         12  things, you will never get rid of sex, you will

         13  never get rid of alcohol and you will never get rid

         14  of pets with people, that was his statement which I

         15  have.

         16                 Now, there are a couple of other

         17  things which I would like to mention. As I said, the

         18  housing situation. Now, as far as the animals being

         19  slaughtered, some years ago I was present here with

         20  Mr. Goldberg, who was at that time the

         21  President/Manager of the ASPCA, and we pleaded with

         22  the City to give more money so that they could

         23  continue to pick up the animals. They were so damn

         24  stingy, they wouldn't give them more money, and the

         25  CCC is the answer to that.
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          2                 We have to realize that education,

          3  whether it is in the schools or in the newspapers,

          4  is the foremost education to have them spayed and

          5  neutered if you get a pet.

          6                 There is also a problem, which I

          7  offered the Humane Society of the United States when

          8  I was at the conference some years ago, that there

          9  is -- I don't know if you are aware of it, but while

         10  I got a chance to mention it, is this -- what is the

         11  word, sanataria, where animals are being

         12  slaughtered, and education, I am throwing this in as

         13  an extra, not getting paid for, that they must get

         14  into this.

         15                 Ms. Freed, there are slaughtered, we

         16  are finding animals that have been slaughtered for

         17  this religious cult. Nothing has been mentioned in

         18  the papers what to do about it.

         19                 I am getting it off my chest, because

         20  I am handing the Council this, which I have promised

         21  I would never do any more work for animals after 80

         22  years, but I liked like the President and I am still

         23  here, and I am going to be here as long as I live

         24  and speak for these animals.

         25                 Is there education in schools -- I
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          2  live across the street from a school, which I

          3  mentioned. Years ago the children spoke English.

          4  They would come over, I could talk to them. I handed

          5  them literature, I still have the literature. Today

          6  there is 18 languages over there. Some of them don't

          7  even understand English, I can't approach them. I

          8  not at the age anymore where I can go over and do

          9  that.

         10                 You must also try and get education

         11  into the schools where they are growing up to learn

         12  - feed the squirrels, feed the birds, they are also

         13  part of our life.

         14                 This is all part of our life, Ms.

         15  Freed, and we all people that are here I am sure. I

         16  had the squirrels at my window make faces at me,

         17  they sit there. I have the birds eating. This is

         18  part. What you are talking about, I am sure there

         19  are people here which will discuss it in detail. But

         20  I did want to mention there are pioneers that had

         21  these ideas long before we had to suffer. We would

         22  go out on Humane Sunday, hand out leaflets on Fifth

         23  Avenue. We picketed the ASPCA in '59 against the

         24  Metcaffe Hatch Bill, which was called "The Pound

         25  Bill". I don't know if you know about that, which
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          2  was horrible. And we were crucified and vilified

          3  because we were fighting it.

          4                 But thank God, in 1987, I think it

          5  was turned over, that many of the people who have

          6  pioneered and should be here, I want their names

          7  mentioned, because they have led the way for an

          8  angel like you to have the voice of the City

          9  Council.

         10                 Some years ago we appeared here. I

         11  think it was with -- oh, what's his name, the Mayor,

         12  LaGuardia. He was very nice to us. And he listened,

         13  some of the things were accomplished. There was

         14  another Mayor, I won't mention his name, the horse

         15  appearance, we appeared for horses. I was told to

         16  get out, I had too loud a voice.

         17                 But I want to ask you people,

         18  consider this carefully, because animals are part of

         19  our life, they are to be under our protection. That

         20  is what nature put them there for.

         21                 Please see what you can do. Some of

         22  the money that I have has been given in grants to

         23  different shelters here, as far north as up in

         24  Lancaster, New Hampshire, where they were

         25  struggling, and I sent them a grant so they could,
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          2  some of the poor people that live up there could not

          3  afford the neuter and spay and I sent them a grant

          4  for that. Don't ask me where Lancaster, New

          5  Hampshire is, but I got mail from them.

          6                 It is very necessary we spay and

          7  neuter every animal and that they get shots. I would

          8  take time to tell you of the different people who

          9  have laid down their lives for this option, and I am

         10  going to stop talking because I have the new

         11  computer game back here, and I would rather have

         12  them speak to you in technical language.

         13                 I am very happy, Ms. Freed, it is an

         14  answer to my prayer that I have a voice to speak for

         15  these animals. I hope to see you again.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Ms. Asch, let me

         18  just say first of all, everybody was whispering to

         19  me, and if anyone thought in their right mind that I

         20  was going to stop Ms. Asch from speaking, you have

         21  to be crazy. That is number one.

         22                 Number two, let me just say, for the

         23  children sitting at the table, sitting in the

         24  audience, you see that clock there it says three

         25  minutes, from now on, unless you are 90 and over,
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          2  like Ms. Asch said, you have three minutes to

          3  testify. When you hear the buzzer, the beep go off,

          4  of course I am not going to stop in the middle, but

          5  please try to wrap up with the testimony.

          6                 And, again, we have, and I must say

          7  that your angel will be around as long as I am going

          8  to be around. She will nudge me to death. We will do

          9  something, but I want to remind people that I have

         10  numerous people that want to testify.

         11                 Having said that, Sergeant-At-Arms,

         12  as soon as the testimony starts by individuals, you

         13  set that clock going, and unless they can show you

         14  that they are the pioneers of 90 and over, that is

         15  the only exception that I will allow to go on beyond

         16  the three minutes.

         17                 DR. JACOBSON: Good evening, Chairman

         18  Robles, and members of the City Council. My name is

         19  Dr. Linda Jacobson, and I am a veterinarian with a

         20  practice in Brooklyn, New York, as well as an

         21  executive board member of the Veterinary Medical

         22  Association of New York City, and chairperson of

         23  this organization's Legislative and Political Action

         24  Committee.

         25                 I would like to make comments on
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          2  Intro. 517 and to speak against Intro. 456, the

          3  establishment of low-cost clinics for the spaying

          4  and neutering of cats and dogs.

          5                 Of most importance, veterinarians

          6  endorse the spaying and neutering of dogs and cats,

          7  not only to avoid an unwanted pet population, but

          8  also for the documented significance of improved

          9  health of these pets.

         10                 Regarding Intro. 517, in the section

         11  regarding show dogs, we feel that a copy of the

         12  American Kennel Club or United Kennel Club breed

         13  ring show record dated no more than 12 months prior

         14  to the date such do entered a shelter is unfair to

         15  the dog's owners.

         16                 Many show dogs finish their show

         17  careers at young ages but are still valuable for

         18  breeding years after.

         19                 As we know, we, as humans, favor

         20  certain looks and characteristics found in certain

         21  breeds of dogs, cats, as well as other domesticated

         22  animals. To maintain a population of dogs and cats

         23  with these desirable characteristics, is part of a

         24  wanted and established need. Therefore, we feel that

         25  any pedigree dog with papers from the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  above-mentioned clubs should be exempt from this

          3  law.

          4                 Regarding Intro. 456, and the

          5  establishment of low-cost spay and neutering

          6  clinics, there already exists in New York City a

          7  multitude of low-cost neutering services for New

          8  York City's pet owners. These include the Fun for

          9  Animals, which operates a full-time, low-cost

         10  neutering clinic, Friends of Animals, which offers

         11  low-cost spay/neuter certificates redeemable at

         12  veterinary hospitals throughout the five boroughs,

         13  Muffin's Pet Connection, which offers similar

         14  spay/neuter certificates as Friends of Animals. And

         15  I would be happy at a later date to provide you

         16  names of participating veterinarians.

         17                 The ASPCA mobile van, which travels

         18  throughout Brooklyn, the Bronx, Queens and Staten

         19  Island, providing by appointment spay and neutering,

         20  additionally the ASPCA, BIDE-A-WEE, and the Humane

         21  Society of New York all offer low-cost neutering at

         22  their clinics and hospitals.

         23                 BIDE-A-WEE runs a two-month, that is

         24  July and August, free neutering program for young

         25  cats and dogs on an annual basis, and recently on
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          2  Valentines Day the Fund for Animals offered a one

          3  cent spay/neuter opportunity for pets whose owners

          4  might be unable to pay its normally low-cost fee.

          5                 I am going to skip. I don't know how

          6  much time I have. I would like to just mention a few

          7  things perhaps and then sum up, because I have in my

          8  written testimony at least ten other groups,

          9  including Spay USA, the VMA of NYC, which I

         10  represent today, Animal Project, City Critters,

         11  North Shore Animal League, et cetera.

         12                 I would like to state that at the

         13  present time the State of New York, through the

         14  Department of Ag and Markets offers a low-cost

         15  spay/neuter program to New York State residents who

         16  adopt animals from New York shelters and pounds.

         17  This is found in Article 7 of the Ag and Markets

         18  Law. I have a copy, again, I would be happy to

         19  supply it to the Council members if they so desire.

         20                 Basically this program provides for

         21  veterinarians licensed in the State of New York to

         22  provide low-cost spays and neuters, for adopters of

         23  pets from shelters when bearing a certificate from

         24  the pound or shelter. These certificates can be

         25  brought to the adopter's own veterinarian or can be
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          2  used at the shelter. The monies for having this

          3  program are derived from the differential licensing

          4  fee for dogs who are not spayed or neutered from

          5  those who are. As you are aware, it is a $3 fee

          6  difference.

          7                 Also, the Commissioner of Ags and

          8  Markets may solicit funds from private or public

          9  sources.

         10                 The monies are placed in a fund and

         11  then used to reimburse the veterinarian or the

         12  shelter or the pound, 80 percent of its usual fee,

         13  minus the $30 that the adopter pays to the

         14  veterinarian or the shelter or the pound for the

         15  surgery. So far the program has been working well

         16  since its inception in 1996.

         17                 In summation, we feel that the New

         18  York City pet owners who want or need to obtain

         19  low-cost spay or neutering for their pets can easily

         20  do so from a variety of existing sources. There is

         21  no need for New York City to establish low-cost spay

         22  and neuter clinics, nor should it consider the high

         23  cost of administering and supporting such an effort.

         24                 If City funds are available to

         25  subsidize these services, they can be given in the
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          2  form of certificates which can be redeemed in

          3  already existing public and private veterinary

          4  facilities.

          5                 Furthermore, these funds should be

          6  used in educating the public regarding the need for

          7  spaying and neutering of dogs and cats.

          8                 Thank you. I will be happy to answer

          9  any questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         11                 DR. CALTABIANO: Good afternoon. My

         12  name is Dr. John Caltabiano. I am not a New York

         13  resident, I am from Connecticut. I was invited here

         14  today to present for you a program that works in the

         15  State of Connecticut.

         16                 I am flattered to be here, I have

         17  come totally full circle. Two and a half years ago I

         18  attended the first annual Coalition of Spay and

         19  Neuter Veterinarians, and a wonderful veterinarian

         20  from Brooklyn got up with tears in her eyes and told

         21  me how, told us how she had to euthanize three to

         22  four-hundred animals on a weekly basis. I am not a

         23  cry baby, I cried that afternoon. I came back

         24  determined and inspired to do something about the

         25  over-population.
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          2                 I am the founder and president of

          3  TEAM, and what we do, and I passed out some things

          4  for you, we have a 22-foot, self-contained mobile

          5  unit, okay I see you guys were looking at that, we

          6  have 80 locations around the State of Connecticut,

          7  we average over 36 spays or neuters on a daily

          8  basis. We charge $35. This $35 fee includes a rabies

          9  vaccination, a Distemper vaccination, upper and

         10  lower respiratory viral vaccinations and treatments

         11  for ear mites, plus other minor procedures that we

         12  have performed.

         13                 We don't require anyone to take an

         14  SAT test before they come to us, all you have to do

         15  is provide $35. The animals are discharged at the

         16  end of the day. Despite predictions that there would

         17  be a backlash amongst the veterinary community in

         18  the State of Connecticut, 53 hospitals representing

         19  over 146 veterinarians throughout the State

         20  participate in our follow-up programs, and ladies

         21  and gentlemen, this program works. It really does.

         22  We have done 17,000 operations to date, we do almost

         23  a thousand operations a month. We make a little bit

         24  of money, I know that is important to you, and even

         25  by conservative estimates, more than 2 million
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          2  kittens will not be born as a result of this

          3  project.

          4                 I recognize the awesome

          5  accomplishments of the City Council. New York City

          6  is cleaner, safer and more prosperous than ever, but

          7  in order to become a truly enlightened City, the

          8  preposterous and indecent disregard for the lives of

          9  innocent, domestic animals must be ended, and I

         10  besiege you to act upon this and perhaps you can get

         11  a few of these units throughout the City. You will

         12  find that they are self-sufficient, they are

         13  effective, and people are willing to pay for this

         14  service.

         15                 Now, some people can't afford it, but

         16  we have many people throughout the State of

         17  Connecticut that are willing to bring in that stray

         18  cat, okay, and pay $35, even if it doesn't belong to

         19  them. And I think that is another important facet to

         20  the program.

         21                 And last of all, I do want to say

         22  that out of the 17,000 operations that we have done,

         23  we have only had eight fatalities, five were feral

         24  so they couldn't have an examination prior to

         25  surgery, two belonged to people and one was one of
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          2  those ubiquitous stray cats. That is a 99.9 percent

          3  surgical rate and I don't think there is a clinic on

          4  the planet that can boast that.

          5                 Thank you very much for your time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

          7  much, I appreciate it.

          8                 MR. ORENGO: Esther Mechler, please

          9  come up. Elizabeth Forel, Elinor Molbegott.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Folks, do me a

         11  favor. Any discussion take it outside, because it is

         12  really distracting and as a courtesy I want to hear

         13  the testimony.

         14                 Madame -- Sergeant-At-Arms, please.

         15  Come on.

         16                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS: Quiet, please.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go ahead.

         18                 MS. MECHLER: Thank you. And thank you

         19  for consideration of this bill, 456.

         20                 I am specifying that particular bill,

         21  because the companion animals in shelters are only

         22  about 17 percent of the total population, so I think

         23  if we are really going to address the problem, we

         24  have to address the other 80 percent as well, which

         25  is in Bill 456.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do me a favor,

          3  before you start, identify yourself for the record.

          4                 MS. MECHLER: I am sorry. Yes, I am

          5  Esther Mechler, from Spay, USA, and I was asked to

          6  come today because of my experience in unique

          7  overview of surplus pets in this country nationwide.

          8                 Our program started eight years ago,

          9  and now has 940 local programs across the country.

         10                 Just last night I returned from

         11  speaking in Littlerock Arkansas, at a southern

         12  regional conference, and in less than two weeks I

         13  leave to go to Rome to speak at the World Health

         14  Organization on a similar panel for State

         15  veterinarians throughout the Mediterranean

         16  addressing the same problem. This problem is a

         17  worldwide problem, and some places are addressing it

         18  better than others.

         19                 Well, here in New York, with all the

         20  other depressing and upsetting problems you face,

         21  why even address pet overpopulation? But with this

         22  bill, 456, the problem can be overcome with ease.

         23  Other cities have shown us that these kinds of

         24  strong bills work. It will save your City money and

         25  therefore it will make you look good.
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          2                 Why do I say it will save you money?

          3  Because it costs about $35 to spay or neuter an

          4  animal and it costs about $80 to round up, house and

          5  then kill that animal.

          6                 It prevents future problems because

          7  as far as we know, it is always easier to prevent a

          8  problem than to clean up a mess. If your basement is

          9  full of water, and you are bailing it out with a

         10  bucket, unless you turn off the valve, you are going

         11  to be bailing for a long time. You shut off the

         12  valve, and you end your problem.

         13                 Going to the source, as this bill

         14  does, will make everybody happy.

         15                 In 1974, the National League of

         16  Cities Annual Congress of Cities adopted the

         17  following national, municipal policy on pet control.

         18  Dog and cat overpopulation in urban areas is now

         19  recognized as a threat to health, as well as an

         20  assault on urban aesthetics, a pollutant and a

         21  safety hazard.

         22                 It also represents a major city

         23  expenditure.  Citizens and governments must be made

         24  aware of the seriousness of this problem. From my

         25  perspective now, I have seen a number of cities
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          2  nationwide deal with this overpopulation very

          3  successfully.

          4                 The cities that pass good, strong,

          5  sensible legislation and made these spay/neuter

          6  services accessible and affordable no longer have to

          7  kill large numbers of animals, healthy cats and

          8  dogs, kittens and puppies.

          9                 New York City kills almost 40,000

         10  every year. You must ask yourselves, since you are

         11  the City Council, is this acceptable in our City?

         12  Even if some of those animals are sick or

         13  aggressive, your staff is still having to kill over

         14  100 animals a day every day of the year. Imagine!

         15  And it is not necessary.

         16                 All we are asking you to do here is

         17  to set in motion the same successful process that is

         18  working in cities like Seattle, SanFrancisco,

         19  SanDiego, San Jose. For when spay/neuter services

         20  are easily accessible and affordable, just as bill

         21  456 sets it up to be, people do use the service and

         22  the death rates drop dramatically.

         23                 As one example, they were killing

         24  15,500 cats in SanDiego seven years ago, now seven

         25  years later the number is half that, and it
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          2  continues to decline, even though SanDiego is

          3  growing very rapidly, and cats, by the way, multiply

          4  much faster than dogs, so we need the affordable

          5  clinics for people to bring cats.

          6                 I could get into lots of examples and

          7  lots of numbers, because there are lots of cities

          8  already ahead of New York, but the point now is for

          9  New York to take action and to catch up with these

         10  other cities. So, Council members with all of those

         11  complex, controversial issues swirling around you,

         12  and all of those dilemmas that have no easy answers,

         13  here is a real no-brainer bill, a win/win scenario.

         14  I ask you please to vote yes for Bill 456. It is the

         15  right thing, it is the simple thing and it is going

         16  to work.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         19                 MS. MOLBEGOTT: The Humane Society of

         20  New York thanks --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do me a favor

         22  again, identify yourself for the record.

         23                 MS. MOLBEGOTT: My name is Elinor

         24  Molbegott, I am the attorney for the Humane Society

         25  of New York. And the Humane Society of New York
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          2  thanks you for the opportunity to testify today,

          3  regarding Intro. No. 456 and 517, pertaining to the

          4  spaying and neutering of dogs and cats.

          5                 The Humane Society of New York was

          6  founded in 1904 and currently has over 50,000

          7  members, the majority of whom reside in New York

          8  City. We operate an adoption center and low-cost

          9  veterinary hospital which includes a low-cost

         10  spay/neutering clinic.

         11                 Approximately 5,000 dogs and cats are

         12  spayed each year at our clinic. At the same time,

         13  approximately 40,000 homeless dogs and cats are

         14  killed each year at the Center for Animal Care and

         15  Control, and countless more homeless dogs and cats

         16  wander our City streets.

         17                 There are three ways to handle over

         18  population: One is to kill the homeless animals.

         19  Another is to reduce the birth rate so there will be

         20  fewer homeless animals. And still another is to

         21  ensure that people can keep well behaved dogs and

         22  cats in the apartments without the threat of

         23  eviction simply for having a pet.

         24                 The Humane Society of New York

         25  strongly believes that the latter two methods of
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          2  addressing overpopulation are far more acceptable

          3  and we hope you agree.

          4                 The focus of the two bills before you

          5  today is spay/neuter. Simply put, you cut the birth

          6  rate so you reduce the killing rate.

          7                 Legislation to promote spay/neutering

          8  has been enacted in many states and municipalities,

          9  it is time that New York City be added to this list.

         10                 Intro. No. 456 addresses spay/neuter

         11  by giving pet owners a financial incentive to have

         12  their dogs and cats spayed or neutered. Provisions

         13  similar to this have been enacted in many

         14  municipalities throughout the country. The result

         15  has been a reduction and a killing rate at the

         16  shelters.

         17                 According to 456, pet owners who

         18  choose to get their dogs and cats spayed or neutered

         19  will not have to pay a $35 -- will not have to pay

         20  $35 annually for an unaltered animal permit. The

         21  Humane Society of New York would prefer a higher fee

         22  for the unaltered animal permit as a means of

         23  providing even greater incentives for pet owners to

         24  have their pets spayed or neutered. The fees in many

         25  municipalities is higher.
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          2                 Pet owners also need to have ready

          3  access to obtain spay/neuter services. For pet

          4  owners for sufficient financial means this is not a

          5  problem, they can readily go to their private

          6  veterinarian.

          7                 For pet owners of limited financial

          8  means, it is imperative that they have ready access

          9  to low-cost spay/neuter facilities.

         10                 While the Human Society of New York

         11  and other humane organizations in our city provide

         12  such services, more is needed. Municipal spay and

         13  neuter clinics, particularly in low-income

         14  neighborhoods, would go a long way in helping to

         15  reduce over population.

         16                 Intro. No. 456 addresses this issue

         17  by providing for request for proposals for contracts

         18  to operate low-cost spay/neuter clinics and requires

         19  the Commissioner of Health to select one or more

         20  organizations from those submitting such requests to

         21  operate the clinics in each borough.

         22                 However, the bill does not specify

         23  funding for the clinics. We believe to ensure that

         24  the clinics become fully operational, a funding

         25  mechanism must be specified.
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          2                 Intro. No. 517 addresses spay/neuter

          3  in two ways: It requires shelters to spay and neuter

          4  dogs and cats prior to releasing them for adoption.

          5                 Second, it requires shelters to spay

          6  and neuter dogs and cats prior to releasing them to

          7  owners who are claiming them.

          8                 The Humane Society of New York, as

          9  far as we know, most, if not all of the shelters in

         10  our City already spay and neuter dogs and cats prior

         11  to releasing them.

         12                 Without even reading my testimony now

         13  as far as this goes, just to spare some time here,

         14  if it is a practice in the City already for most

         15  shelters to do this, if not all shelters to do this,

         16  then we have to question how effective 517 is going

         17  to be to deal with overpopulation, because if it

         18  simply gives a stamp of approval to practices

         19  already taking place, which is not dealing

         20  effectively enough with the overpopulation problem,

         21  that means we need to do more.

         22                 Shelter animals only comprise a small

         23  number of the animals that are out there. There are

         24  hundreds of thousands of animals already out there

         25  that this bill 517 would not apply to because they
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          2  are already there, and because people get animals

          3  from friends, from pet stores, from breeders, from

          4  the streets, those animals would not be covered, and

          5  those animals are contributing greatly to the

          6  overpopulation problem.

          7                 So that while we support in concept

          8  the spaying and neutering of animals before adoption

          9  and the Humane Society certainly does that, that

         10  alone is not going to be enough. So, we would

         11  suggest that 517 be supported in that context, along

         12  with 456, not as its own legislation, because we

         13  would be kidding ourselves to think that we are

         14  dealing with the problem by just passing 517.

         15                 And finally, on the issue of

         16  redemption by owners, 517, we have some problems

         17  with that too.

         18                 While we don't object to the concept

         19  of spaying or neutering prior to releasing unspayed

         20  and unneutered dogs and cats to their owners, the

         21  CACC has been charging exorbitant fees once an

         22  animal gets in their clutches. So that the bill

         23  needs to be clearer on what people are going to then

         24  have to pay if their animal is at the CACC and

         25  spayed or neutered, what are they going to have to
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          2  pay to get the animal back. And if they can't pay or

          3  they don't pay, what is going to happen to that

          4  animal? Is that animal going to be killed? Is that

          5  animal going to languish in the shelter for months,

          6  costing even more money, or is that spayed or

          7  neutered animal going to be just returned to that

          8  owner? And that is a very important point because we

          9  have had a lot of problems with animals being held

         10  hostage at the CACC pending payment. So we would ask

         11  that that provision be reviewed and amended.

         12                 Again, thank you. I will just say

         13  that it is a refreshment on our city and our

         14  civility and our basic humanity to address this

         15  problem, and we urge you to support legislation

         16  which would prevent the birth, rather than maintain

         17  the status quo. Our City is better than that, and we

         18  hope you agree.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         21                 Ma'am.

         22                 MS. FOREL: Can you hear me?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes. Just

         24  identify yourself for the record, please.

         25                 MS. FOREL: My name is Elizabeth Forel
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          2  and I am Director of the Coalition for New York City

          3  Animals.

          4                 New York City is in desperate need of

          5  humanely controlling its homeless animal population.

          6  Too many innocent cats and dogs have died because of

          7  the failure of the Administration and the City

          8  Council to take humane action to control this

          9  tragedy.

         10                 In 1998, the CACC reported receiving

         11  over 55,000 animals and euthanizing 39,000, only

         12  11,861 were adopted. Only 14 percent of pet cats and

         13  dogs are acquired from shelters, the other pets

         14  representing 86 percent are acquired from breeders,

         15  pet stores, as strays from rescue groups or friends.

         16  New York City needs spay/neuter incentive

         17  legislation that will affect all animals and not

         18  just those adopted from shelters as specified in

         19  Intro. 517.

         20                 In 1994, the first animal population

         21  control bill, Intro. 321, was introduced. It was a

         22  very comprehensive bill, but for some reason was

         23  ignored and never passed out of Committee.

         24                 In that time, because no action was

         25  taken by the City Council to control a burgeoning

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  stray animal population, well over 200,000 cats and

          3  dogs have been killed in our City shelters, and many

          4  more killed on the street.

          5                 New York City continues to lag behind

          6  the rest of the country in the way it handles its

          7  homeless animal population.

          8                 Since 1990, no fewer than 50

          9  municipalities have passed spay/neuter incentive

         10  laws, one of the most successful was passed in King

         11  County, Washington, in 1992. The numbers speak for

         12  themselves. In 1990, preordinance, 13,765 animals

         13  were euthanized. Seven years later, in 1997, the

         14  number had been reduced to 6,606, an amazing 52

         15  percent decrease.

         16                 In 1998, 38,942 animals were

         17  euthanized at the CACC. Hypothetically, if

         18  legislation similar to King County had been enacted

         19  here by 2005, the number of animals killed could

         20  have been reduced to 20,250, a 52 percent decrease.

         21                 However, if no legislation is passed

         22  to control the overpopulation, the status quo will

         23  continue and by the Year 2005, we can expect to have

         24  killed at least 270,000 more cats and dogs.

         25                 We must break this horrendous killing
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          2  cycle and learn from other municipalities, some of

          3  which are on the way to becoming no-kill cities.

          4                 The money saved from killing animals

          5  can be used for life affirming programs and humane

          6  education.

          7                 If the Council wants to continue to

          8  have the blood of innocent cats and dogs on its

          9  hands, I ask that you do nothing about Intro. 456,

         10  and just let it die as the animals continue to do.

         11                 If, however, you want to change New

         12  York City's inhumane national reputation, I ask that

         13  you pass a strong spay/neuter incentive bill that

         14  includes spay/neuter clinics in the five boroughs.

         15                 It is time for New York City to show

         16  leadership in this area and to move into the 21st

         17  century with compassion for all living creatures.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Marc Ameruso, Dr. Nancy Ashley and

         22  Lisa Weisberg.

         23                 MS. WEISBERG: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Lisa Weisberg. I am the vice president of

         25  Government Affairs for the ASPCA.
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          2                 I would like to thank the Committee

          3  for this opportunity to speak today regarding Intro.

          4  456 and Intro. 517.

          5                 On behalf of the ASPCA and its over

          6  21,000 New York City supporters, I respectfully urge

          7  your strong support of Intro. 456. I am just going

          8  to summarize here because many of the points have

          9  already been made.

         10                 Pet overpopulation unfortunately

         11  continues to be a serious problem in New York City.

         12  Historically approximately 65 percent of the animals

         13  impounded at our shelters are put to sleep each

         14  year. Of these almost 50 percent are perfectly

         15  healthy animals. To continue this cycle of removal

         16  and euthanasia for our beloved companion animals is

         17  both unforgivable and unconscionable, yet current

         18  statistical data on pet population indicates this

         19  problem will continue and that thousands of animals

         20  will be euthanized each year unless we start to

         21  combat it through an aggressive spay/neuter program.

         22                 Intro. 456 is a reasonable approach

         23  to begin to rectify this problem. By giving pet

         24  owners a choice, either spay or neuter your dog and

         25  cat or contribute to the costs associated with pet
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          2  overpopulation in New York City.

          3                 Intro. 456, though, is not a bill

          4  that seeks to merely penalize pet owners, rather it

          5  attempts to motivate people to avail themselves of

          6  existing low cost spay/neuter programs in the City

          7  which you have heard about today.

          8                 What is more, not only will Intro.

          9  456 promote healthier and happier pets in New York

         10  City, but it will dramatically decrease the number

         11  of animals on our streets, protect the health,

         12  safety and welfare of our residents and companion

         13  animals by decreasing the incidents of disease

         14  transmission, and accidents involving animals at

         15  large, decrease the number of animals destroyed each

         16  year and ultimately lower the cost of animal control

         17  for the City of New York.

         18                 Furthermore, Intro. 456 should

         19  greatly assist the Department in enforcing the dog

         20  license law. Better enforcement of this law will

         21  also bring greatly needed revenue for the City to

         22  provide an increased level of animal control

         23  services.

         24                 The ASPCA estimates that there are

         25  approximately 750,000 to 1 million dogs residing in
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          2  New York City today, and as you have just heard from

          3  the Commissioner of Health, they are actually

          4  licensing less than 100,000 dogs.

          5                 This leaves approximately 650,000 to

          6  900,000 dogs unlicensed.

          7                 This amounts to between five and a

          8  half million to 7.6 million in lost revenue per year

          9  for the City, money which could dramatically improve

         10  the animal shelters, services provided, and

         11  spay/neuter clinics.

         12                 All said, Intro. 456 should prove to

         13  be an all around success story from companion

         14  animals in this City.

         15                 Regarding Intro. 517, the ASPCA

         16  supports the underlying concept of the legislation,

         17  however we are very concerned about the ability of

         18  some facilities to spay and neuter all adoptable

         19  animals under the current system capacity.

         20                 Because of the current limitations we

         21  greatly fear that many healthy, well socialized

         22  adoptable animals will simply be put to sleep. This

         23  is unfortunately what happened in Phoenix, Arizona

         24  recently, as our new president, Dr. Larry Hawke, can

         25  attest to, causing thousands of animals to be
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          2  euthanized.

          3                 The ASPCA would certainly like to see

          4  all animals spayed and neutered before they are

          5  adopted out, since this is the only foolproof way to

          6  ensure that we are not simply recycling the problem.

          7                 At this time, however, we do not

          8  believe that all animal facilities are able to

          9  comply with this requirement.

         10                 Perhaps instead a program simulating

         11  the requirements of Intro. 517 can be launched to

         12  work out the kinks prior to adoption.

         13                 The ASPCA would certainly assist in

         14  this effort in any way it can to achieve this goal.

         15  However, to impose such a mandate at this time may

         16  amount to nothing short of initiating large scale

         17  euthanasia at this time we do believe that Intro.

         18  456 is the first step in the process.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         21                 MR. AMERUSO: My name is Marc Ameruso,

         22  I am a Tribecca resident and a native New Yorker and

         23  an animal lover. I am here in support of Intro. 456,

         24  because I believe that Intro. 517 doesn't go far

         25  enough to deal with these issues.
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          2                 My dog is a perfect example of why we

          3  need this bill. Her name is Jenny. We were visiting

          4  the 1st Precinct and she is very civic minded as I

          5  am, she also likes to talk to the horses over there.

          6  But 517 deals with a mandatory spayed and neuter.

          7  There are a lot of reasons, and you brought one up

          8  yourself, the age of the animal is important to

          9  health or extenuating circumstances that shouldn't

         10  be necessary.

         11                 Commissioner Cohen also called the

         12  bill simple and cost-effective. There are no simple

         13  solutions to this problem. And cost effectiveness

         14  will in the future, it will be more cost effective.

         15  A three-year program is not going to work, because

         16  once we get to no-kill, to be a no-kill city, that

         17  is when the cost-effectiveness will I think show.

         18                 I think the low cost, in 456 the low

         19  cost clinics deals with it and the other gentleman

         20  from Connecticut who talked about the mobile

         21  shelters, I have seen those, I have seen those in

         22  other cities, and they are dealing with this problem

         23  a lot better than we are.

         24                 And you know, the word shelter, a

         25  shelter that kills, I think it is kind of a oxymoron
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          2  it shouldn't be called shelter.

          3                 I believe 517 doesn't go far enough

          4  to deal with these problems, and I support Intro.

          5  456.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 We are going to do something,

          9  because, again, I want to hear everybody. Again, I

         10  understand applause, but can we just get people to

         11  speak and I think the applause can be at the proper

         12  time so we can keep moving on with these bills.

         13                 MR. ORENGO: Sandra Lewis, Gary

         14  Kaskel, Barbara Stagno.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, all I ask

         16  for you to do is to identify yourself for the record

         17  and then proceed.

         18                 MS. LEWIS: Hi. My name is Sandra

         19  Lewis, and I am the New York Director of Friends of

         20  Animals. Friends of Animals is an international

         21  animal protection organization with about 200,000

         22  members. Thank you for the opportunity to speak.

         23                 I am going to be brief, because I

         24  know Gary won't be. Just kidding.

         25                 You know, I have just brought this
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          2  flyer because this goes back. I remember less about

          3  the statistics than even the people from the DOH, if

          4  possible. I don't remember the exact year this was

          5  introduced, Intro. 321, Kathryn Freed's bill,

          6  written by Elinor Molbegott for Friends of Animals.

          7  This is the original one, predicated on the King

          8  County Washington's very successful situation.

          9                 But when you said, Mr. Chairman, the

         10  remark about being 90 years old, all of us feel like

         11  we have been here for 90 years fighting for this

         12  bill. You know, no matter how it is changed. Friends

         13  of Animals is 100 percent in support of Kathryn

         14  Freed's bill.

         15                 You know, the City is -- I think

         16  there have to be some things discovered from the

         17  City before this contract with the CACC is renewed,

         18  because the present City administration seems to

         19  want punitive measures, rather than preventive

         20  measures, for taking care of this problem.

         21                 If your dog, heaven forbid, gets

         22  incarcerated at the CACC, there is not one person I

         23  know who has ever been able to redeem a dog for $60.

         24                 We have people calling and being

         25  told, you know after having been told by various
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          2  employees or staff there that they want $350 to get

          3  your dog back because it is not spayed, I mean we

          4  really, really -- it's a shame we just can't ask and

          5  take these things on faith. I think they ought to be

          6  willing to submit proof and open up books and see

          7  exactly how much is charged for the redemption of

          8  these animals.

          9                 There is also one thing that really

         10  rankles me, in most places in this country a

         11  veterinarian will charge approximately thirty-five

         12  bucks to implant a microchip. Right now in New York

         13  City, since the ASPCA uses a different chip, a

         14  different reader, a different way of implanting than

         15  any other place, all the City pounds, all the City

         16  facilities, and all the places in the tristate area

         17  is completely irrelevant to microchip animals. They

         18  can't even do proper identification of animals. They

         19  don't even have an animal ID system up for

         20  reclaiming your lost pets. The training that is

         21  required by shelter workers about how to insert this

         22  chip correctly and the kind of universal readers

         23  that are needed so that it makes sense to have this

         24  in a large metropolitan area don't exist.

         25                 So, I think that I don't know how
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          2  much of the budget that they talked about is

          3  included in this $60 to adopt, but if microchipping

          4  is either 25 or $20 worth of that, it is completely

          5  -- I would be happy to provide you with studies

          6  that we have done on the effectiveness of

          7  microchipping around the country.

          8                 And, you know, a lot of this -- you

          9  know, I heard Henry Stern on television the other

         10  night talking about the Parks Department equipping

         11  New Yorkers with little beepers so that if you see a

         12  dog off its leash in Central Park, you beep and the

         13  dog police come? We don't want to get to that point

         14  anywhere. But I mean, when the Administration wants

         15  to figure out a way to enforce something, I don't

         16  agree with that way, but they are seeming to find a

         17  way to enforce it. And the statement that they don't

         18  have -- I think one of them said they don't have the

         19  infrastructure and the funds, what they really don't

         20  have is the will. They really don't have the will to

         21  fix this problem, and thank you, Kathryn, for giving

         22  them a way. If only we can be sure that they can be

         23  made to understand why it will work.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Ms. Lewis,
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          2  however, let me again say clearly, I do not know the

          3  past. And one of the things that this Committee is

          4  doing, you know, although we were kept out, we

          5  finally have agreed upon, and I began with HHC. I

          6  have every intention to move this Committee out from

          7  this room and from City Hall and visit every single

          8  services that we contract out. So the shelters or

          9  whatever they want to be called, and the facilities,

         10  I assure you so long as I preside as chair we will

         11  be looking at that, because I am not too thrilled

         12  neither with articles and what have you.

         13                 I urge you to use my counsel to the

         14  Committee, because you could help us in doing our

         15  job more effective in terms of monitoring and

         16  evaluating because I, for one, am not too thrilled

         17  with the contracts we have in place, and not that we

         18  don't support it, it is that I am not convinced that

         19  we are getting our money's worth. So I say that

         20  respectfully and I hope that we can work together so

         21  that we deal with all issues when it comes to health

         22  and services, and I assure you that animals are not

         23  going to be the exceptions to the rule, and k I will

         24  say that to you respectfully.

         25                 MS. LEWIS: I am thrilled. I am
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          2  really, really thrilled to hear that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But I will ask

          4  everyone in this room to have patience, because I

          5  cannot carry the cross of the past.

          6                 And in the last year, what I have

          7  been trying to do is to get a handle. I mean, first

          8  of all, I must tell you that I was not thrilled,

          9  because I am of the old -- not 90 years old, but I

         10  have been around here long enough to know that under

         11  our Charter, the Commissioner of Health is a chief

         12  health officer, and he or she is supposed to set the

         13  tone and the direction. I have not been comfortable

         14  with the direction that the Commissioner of Health

         15  in the past and even present is moving. And I am

         16  trying to work with the Administration.

         17                 (Applause.)

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Please, folks.

         19                 I am trying to work with the

         20  Administration, and I have to accept and understand

         21  the different strokes for different folks. But there

         22  is always a way of doing this. So, I want to again

         23  say respectfully that if we work together we don't

         24  have to agree with each other, but if we have a

         25  common goal, we will attempt to address it. And I
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          2  say this, whether it is Kathryn Freed's bill or of

          3  course the bill that I am carrying as the Chairman

          4  of the Committee because it was introduced by the

          5  Mayor, we will take action this year when it comes

          6  to anything that moves on from here.

          7                 These hearings are not just simply to

          8  hear you out and then that is the end of it, and

          9  knowing Kathryn the way I do, and I have been around

         10  long enough to know her, she will keep me to the

         11  fire.

         12                 So, I just don't want you to think

         13  that no one is listening. I don't know the past, I

         14  know where I am and I know where I would like to be,

         15  and hopefully by the Year 2001, like I said, whether

         16  you call me a lame duck, I am not a dead duck, we

         17  will leave something behind to say at least they

         18  went there, they heard us and something came out.

         19                 It may not be 100 percent, but

         20  something will be done. I just had to say that.

         21                 Council Member Freed quickly.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Also, I am very

         23  glad to hear that, Mr. Chair, it gives us all a ray

         24  of hope.

         25                 I just wanted to clarify something
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          2  you said, Sandra. The ASPCA didn't do microchipping.

          3  The Center for Animal --

          4                 MS. LEWIS: No, the ASPCA does, but it

          5  is my understanding that they use -- I forget, there

          6  are three or four microchip companies now and the

          7  ASPCA uses a different chip than the CACC, you know,

          8  so -- and I mean, it is like what, several blocks

          9  away. So, you have got to be able to read these

         10  chips with a universal reader, and a very good one

         11  has not yet been perfected. At least that is my

         12  understanding, and I can supply, I would be happy to

         13  supply information that we have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. And let me

         15  say one more point, not only to the advocates, but

         16  even to the ASPCA or to anybody else: If you have

         17  something that you, as professionals, feel we, as a

         18  government, are not doing in protecting animals,

         19  then you have a moral obligation, and I say this

         20  respectfully as a challenge, then you have a moral

         21  obligation to come before this Committee and this

         22  chair and enlighten me. And I assure you, I will

         23  address it.

         24                 My problem is you have all of these

         25  people, and all of these layers, and we have to
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          2  communicate with each other, because you come in

          3  contact more often with the situation than I do.

          4  Some of us get stuck here.

          5                 So, I say this respectfully. I hope

          6  that these hearings, if nothing else, begins a new

          7  dialogue of communicating. And if you have anything

          8  that will help this Committee and this chair, I

          9  welcome it.

         10                 That is why I am here. I get paid for

         11  my job, that is why he is the Counsel. I want to

         12  leave that with you. You are not coming to a hearing

         13  and read nice speeches and say what you are doing, I

         14  say that I am prepared to do my job but I need your

         15  help to make sure that I do my job the way I am

         16  supposed to do it.

         17                 Go ahead, sir.

         18                 MR. KASKEL: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         19  My name is Gary Kaskel, I am chair of the Shelter

         20  Reform Action Committee, and I would like to preface

         21  to tell you how pleased I am to hear you remarks

         22  regarding the authority of the Health Department

         23  over animal management.

         24                 As you may or may not know, in '97

         25  the Shelter Reform Action Committee gathered over
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          2  75,000 signatures to put a ballot initiative to the

          3  voters to create a Department of Animal Affairs to

          4  take jurisdiction away from the Health Department.

          5  That ballot initiative was quashed by the Giuliani

          6  Administration on an obscured technicality. We are

          7  now in the State Legislature to overturn the Mayor's

          8  exclusive authority over designating animal control,

          9  and we expect a Home Rule vote to reach the City

         10  Council next month, or this month perhaps. So I hope

         11  you will be able to follow through on that.

         12                 The Shelter Reform Action Committee

         13  supports Intro. 456 because it believes Citywide

         14  spay/neutering is absolutely essential to solving

         15  the animal overpopulation problem.

         16                 We further believe that passing such

         17  a bill will obviate the need to pass Intro. 517,

         18  which proposes an incomplete approach by only

         19  addressing the spay/neutering of shelter animals.

         20  And I would like to say that in my opinion Intro.

         21  517 was certainly not the Administration's idea but

         22  rather the CACC's idea, because the Shelter Reform

         23  Action Committee has threatened to sue the CACC over

         24  unpromulgated fees, redemption fees, that the CACC

         25  arbitrarily has selected to charge people whose
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          2  animals enter the facilities unspayed and neutered.

          3                 They were never promulgated under

          4  CAPA, they are arbitrary, there was never any

          5  hearing process in which such fees were set, either

          6  by the Health Department or the CACC, and I find

          7  Intro. 517 completely disingenuous as to its

          8  intentions. It really is an escape mechanism for the

          9  CACC to get away with charging, with not being sued

         10  for charging their fees.

         11                 The principle reason for passing a

         12  comprehensive spay/neuter law in New York City is

         13  simple: They killed almost 40,000 animals last year.

         14  Not put to sleep, not put down, not euthanized,

         15  which by dictionary definition means a painless

         16  death to end suffering. The vast majority of these

         17  animals were healthy, adoptable creatures who do not

         18  deserve to die, and were callously killed by a

         19  society that simply doesn't have the will to find

         20  them homes, or attack the root of the problem of why

         21  they exist to begin with.

         22                 It is the responsibility of

         23  government to solve this problem. Because only

         24  government has the resources and the authority to do

         25  so. Right now our tax dollars are being wasted year
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          2  after year because of the way the City deals with

          3  the situation, just to merely pick up and dispose of

          4  these animals as if it was just another carting

          5  operation for the Sanitation Department. And it is

          6  no coincidence that Mayor Giuliani appointed the

          7  Sanitation Commissioner to sit on the Board of the

          8  City formed animal shelter system.

          9                 And by the way, the Shelter Reform

         10  Action Committee recently last month won a court

         11  victory against the CACC in the City, and the CACC

         12  was declared an agency of the City subject to FOIL

         13  and freedom of information and the open meetings

         14  law.

         15                 So, the approach that the City is

         16  using is more than just inhumane, it is also an

         17  irresponsible waste of money, and it is unfair to

         18  most taxpayers. We are paying to kill animals for

         19  the people who are causing them to be born. Those

         20  who do not spay and neuter and allow their pets to

         21  roam outside where they breed.

         22                 Other jurisdictions have succeeded in

         23  reducing stray animal populations and lowering their

         24  kill rates at shelters and in the long run it saves

         25  money. But this City has failed to responsibly
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          2  manage this situation just as it has failed to

          3  maintain its bridges. I mean, a simple coat of paint

          4  for $100,000 every few years would have prevented

          5  our bridges from rusting out, and now the neglect is

          6  going to cost the taxpayers billions to repair. It

          7  is no different with the New York City animal

          8  management policies. It is penny-wise and pound

          9  foolish.

         10                 Little spending up front to resolve

         11  the problem would result in a substantial cost

         12  savings in the future. We recommend that the $35

         13  unaltered animal permit fee be raised to a minimum

         14  of $75 because without doing so severely weakens the

         15  incentive to spay/neuter.

         16                 We believe Intro. 456 is one-third of

         17  a solution to this problem, along with aggressive

         18  shelter adoption programs and humane education, this

         19  new law would put New York in the forefront of

         20  progressive, fiscally responsible, humane management

         21  of a tragic problem, and it only takes one trip to

         22  one of our animal shelters to know why we must pass

         23  this bill without any further delay.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. STAGNO: My name is Barbara

          3  Stagno, and I am the Northeast Director for In

          4  Defense of Animals, which is another animal advocacy

          5  organization based here in New York.  We are

          6  staunchly in favor of legislation to restrict the

          7  uncontrolled breeding of companion animals.

          8                 New York, as other cities across the

          9  nation has been forced to address the crisis of dog

         10  and cat overpopulation, but animal control does not

         11  happen for free. Based on 1998 figures released by

         12  the CACC for New York City, it cost approximately

         13  $100 per animal to run the shelter, provide vet

         14  care, adopt them out, or more commonly, euthanize

         15  and dispose of the animals who fill our shelters.

         16                 But in contrast, the cost between $25

         17  and $45 to spend on a dog or cat at a high speed

         18  low-cost sterilization clinic.

         19                 So, statistics show that for every

         20  dollar that is spent on spay/neuter, taxpayers will

         21  save $18.72 on animal control costs.

         22                 In short, this is a program that pays

         23  itself back many times over in long-term savings. So

         24  that to anyone who says New York City cannot afford

         25  to implement the spay/neuter program, statistics
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          2  show that we cannot afford not to.

          3                 The high price we pay for animal

          4  control can be greatly reduced by decreasing the

          5  homeless animal population through widespread

          6  spay/neuter, and indeed there are already many

          7  cities that have done this.

          8                 That is the human cost, and as a

          9  representative in an animal protection organization,

         10  I must speak for the cost of the animals. Humans

         11  domesticated cats and dogs thousands of years ago,

         12  and we have, without question, benefitted greatly

         13  from our relationship with them. They provide vital

         14  companionship to millions of people, they aid the

         15  police to search for missing persons and sniff out

         16  bombs, they are a lifeline to the blind, and many,

         17  many other things. But people, sadly, have been

         18  guilty of having allowed their pets to breed

         19  indiscriminately for dumping them or allowing them

         20  to roam, so that thousands upon thousands and indeed

         21  millions have become lost and stray. People are

         22  responsible for the suffering and death of companion

         23  animals, whether it is the dog or cat who gets

         24  killed at the animal shelter, not euthanized, as

         25  Gary pointed out, or the stray who suffers from
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          2  starvation, thirst, injury, freezing, sickness and

          3  ultimately death.

          4                 The problem of animal overpopulation

          5  was created by humans. The animals pay for it with

          6  their lives in every way.

          7                 Society has an obligation to clean up

          8  this mess. Animals must not be made to suffer for

          9  human carelessness, callousness and indiscretion. We

         10  have an obligation to treat them with dignity and

         11  compassion and killing them as the first and final

         12  solution is really a disgrace. We have a moral and a

         13  utilitarian obligation to address this problem

         14  humanely.

         15                 Intro. 456 is a far better law than

         16  517. It mandates the spaying and neutering of all

         17  cats and dogs, not just shelter animals, and it

         18  provides a mechanism for enforcement of the law by

         19  stipulating fees and fines for non-compliance. And

         20  it also provides a mechanism to which accomplish the

         21  law, the creation of municipal spay/neuter clinics.

         22                 Intro. 517 is lacking in all these

         23  areas.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MR. ORENGO: Stacey Shub, Patty

          4  Adjamine and Karen Walter.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Would you

          6  identify yourself for the record and begin, Ma'am?

          7                 MS. WALTER: Yes. I am Karen Walter. I

          8  am vice president of Mighty Mutts, an animal rescue

          9  organizations.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Go ahead.

         11                 MS. WALTER: First of all, I wanted to

         12  say we support Ms. Freed's Intro. 456, and I am here

         13  to give you some insight as to what I see on a

         14  nightly basis, while my partner and I are out

         15  rescuing and feeding animals in the street.

         16                 In the neighborhoods where we rescue

         17  we see people breeding and fighting dogs in

         18  abandoned buildings, and then turning them loose in

         19  the street. We feel that it should be made very

         20  difficult for people who want to breed dogs and cats

         21  to do that.

         22                 And we also feel that low-cost spay

         23  and neuter clinics in each borough is a must, and it

         24  is long overdue, because if we are still killing

         25  40,000 to 50,000 animals each year in this City, the
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          2  existing low-cost clinics are just not enough.

          3                 And also with regard to the animals

          4  that are in the shelters, it is bad enough that they

          5  are being killed, but also I would like to point out

          6  that the strays on the street have it really, really

          7  bad. They are abused and tortured and they are not

          8  safe at all.

          9                 This past Saturday I had to go take

         10  photos for a police report of an unwanted mother and

         11  her four kittens who somebody didn't want and

         12  murdered.

         13                 So, I strongly suggest support,

         14  please, for Kathryn Freed's bill and I think it is a

         15  very, very good thing.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Would you identify yourself for the

         20  record, Ma'am?

         21                 MS. ADJAMINE: My name is Patty

         22  Adjamine. I am the Director of New Yorkers for

         23  Companion Animals. We are a rescue and adoption

         24  organization in New York City. We also are one of

         25  the groups that does rescue with CACC.
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          2                 I just want to make a little note

          3  that we are going into spring and it is already

          4  starting and CACC, the cardboard boxes with the

          5  mothers and kittens being discarded. So, just to

          6  start off as to how important this is.

          7                 I remember a scene about a year ago,

          8  a van pulled up to CACC on 110th Street, inside the

          9  van were 40 Chiwowas. The owners failing to spay and

         10  neuter ended up with animals they could no longer

         11  care for, so all 40 dogs were casually dropped off

         12  to an ominous fate.

         13                 The irresponsible and uneducated

         14  abandoners casually drove off, perhaps to start the

         15  cycle again with new animals.

         16                 Each year over 60,000 cats and dogs

         17  are dumped at our City pound, most of these animals,

         18  our animals, societies animals, New York City pets,

         19  will die.

         20                 Considering that upward of perhaps 90

         21  percent of these abandoned pets are unneutered and

         22  often discarded because of problems associated with

         23  them not being fixed, it is obvious we are killing

         24  pets rather than neutering them. That is

         25  unconscionable.
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          2                 We use a derogatory and inaccurate

          3  term strays in attempt to distance ourselves from

          4  the responsibility and obscenity of what we do.

          5                 We try to rationalize that the

          6  majority of animals dying in our pounds are dirty,

          7  diffused and vicious - nothing could be further from

          8  the truth. These pets are loving and healthy,

          9  dropped off by irresponsible breeders no longer

         10  producing or making money.

         11                 We are killing pets rather than

         12  neutering them. Arguments are made that passage of

         13  Intro. 456 is unenforceable, but evidence shows that

         14  most people will respect and follow laws.

         15                 Examples: Rabies shots for indoor

         16  cats, obeying pooper scooper laws. Vets are

         17  instrumental in convincing pet owners to acquire

         18  rabies shots for indoor animals. Something that I

         19  think is unnecessary. They can help enforce

         20  mandatory spay/neuter, which is a necessity.

         21                 There is resistance to establishment

         22  of low-cost spay/neuter clinics. Again, evidence

         23  shows prevention is cheaper than cure. We spend

         24  thousands of dollars to send kids to college because

         25  we know ultimately education results in higher
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          2  earnings. We now need to invest in our animals'

          3  future - neutering prevents killing.

          4                 We have been waiting a long time for

          5  the passage of this vital legislation, and I am

          6  referring to 456.

          7                 We have watched hundreds of thousands

          8  of pets go to their deaths because of failure to

          9  pass mandatory spay/neuter.

         10                 We are tired of waiting. We are tired

         11  of the games, the denials, the rationalizations and

         12  the excuses. Most of all, we are sickened of the

         13  endless cycle of killing. We demand the passage of

         14  456 now.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 MR. ORENGO: Julie Van Ness, Marie

         19  Mar, Warren Doyno.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, again,

         21  ladies, if you would identify yourselves for the

         22  record and proceed, and I guess then with the

         23  gentleman at the end.

         24                 MS. MAR: My name is Marie Mar --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Do me a favor.
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          2  Push your mic closer. Okay.

          3                 MS. MAR: My name is Marie Mar, and I

          4  am an attorney practicing in New York City,

          5  Co-chairperson of the Shelter Reform Action

          6  Committee, and I was a volunteer for New Yorkers for

          7  Companion Animals, an adoption and rescue

          8  organization placing unwanted cats in homes.

          9                 It is imperative that New York City

         10  have a spay/neuter law which would not only reduce

         11  the animal population, but also save the City monies

         12  expended in housing, caring and euthanizing this

         13  unwanted pet population.

         14                 The controversies and problems that

         15  continually plague the Center for Animal Care and

         16  Control center around euthanasia of innocent dogs

         17  and cats. Therefore, this spay/neuter law would save

         18  the City from the embarrassment of constantly having

         19  to justify its policy by reducing the admission of

         20  unwanted pets into its facility.

         21                 New York City should follow the

         22  examples of San Francisco and Las Vegas, which have

         23  dramatically reduced the euthanasia of animals,

         24  achieved mainly with spaying and neutering, as well

         25  as humane education and aggressive adoption.
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          2                 After not only seeing innocent cats

          3  and dogs killed for no reason but for a lack of

          4  homes and reading the City Council report, Dying for

          5  Homes, animal care and control in New York City

          6  submitted by the Honorable Kathryn Freed, it is an

          7  absolute necessity for a city as sophisticated as

          8  New York to keep up with the times. And I recommend

          9  and strongly urge the City Council to pass Intro.

         10  456 and not Intro. 517, for the reasons stated by

         11  the previous speakers.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         14                 Ma'am. Just do me a favor, push your

         15  mic towards you and then identify yourself for the

         16  record.

         17                 MS. VAN NESS: Good afternoon, Mr.

         18  Chairman and members of the Committee. My name is

         19  Julie Van Ness, and I am president of United Action

         20  for Animals, a humane organization founded in 1967

         21  and based in Manhattan.

         22                 The two bills before the Committee

         23  today address the crisis of the overpopulation of

         24  dogs and cats in New York City. This particular

         25  problem has been with us, we know, at least since
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          2  1865, when the unwanted animals were put in slatted

          3  wooden boxes and lowered into the East River to

          4  drown them while people watched.

          5                 Now, we kill them by injection called

          6  humane euthanasia, and this is hidden from public

          7  view. In between there were a number of other

          8  methods used, none of them humane.

          9                 Until the 1970s there was much hand

         10  wringing and talk about this that usually ended with

         11  the word necessary. But in the early seventies

         12  veterinary medicine had advanced sufficiently to

         13  give us hope that we could control the numbers of

         14  dogs and cats born without killing them.

         15                 This is commonly referred to as

         16  spaying and neutering. The spay surgery for females

         17  is a hysterectomy, and castration is the surgery fro

         18  males called neutering.

         19                 The ASPCA, the Human Society of New

         20  York, and the Manhattan Shelter of BIDE-A-WEE all

         21  spay and neuter their animals before adoption. The

         22  City shelters run by the Center for Animal Care and

         23  Control make every effort to do the same but are not

         24  always able to.

         25                 Dog and cat rescuers never adopt out
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          2  an animal until it has been spayed or neutered, and

          3  everyone working in the humane community knows that

          4  it is the only way out for this nightmare.

          5                 Now it is time for New York City

          6  public to get on board and become part of the

          7  solution too. As a bonus for them, their animals

          8  will benefit as these surgeries prevent certain

          9  health problems from developing later in life.

         10                 We need the spay/neuter law, 456, to

         11  convince the public that it is the right thing to

         12  do. And then we need to make it possible for them to

         13  do it, by setting up spay/neuter clinics, at least

         14  one in each borough.

         15                 The clinics must be low cost and of

         16  the highest medical standards in order for people to

         17  have confidence in them. By any measure or any cost

         18  benefit analysis, the plan comes in as the best way

         19  to save both animals and tax dollars.

         20                 Since we are so far behind others in

         21  solving this crisis, we have the chance to get some

         22  historical perspective on the success of spay/neuter

         23  clinics in various cities around the country from a

         24  study done by the Humane Society of the United

         25  States and published in 1987.
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          2                 This study gives us reports from

          3  places that have set up clinics and the results of

          4  that decision for the shelters.

          5                 The City of Los Angeles set up the

          6  first spay/neuter clinics in the United States in

          7  1971. In that year they took in 144,530 animals.

          8  Fifteen years later they took in 80,335.

          9                 In 1971 they euthanized 110,335

         10  animals. Fifteen years later, in 1986, they

         11  euthanized 51,000. A reduction of more than 50

         12  percent. And this goes on throughout the country,

         13  the Marin County Humane Society, the Humane Society

         14  of Tuscon, Tuscon Arizona, Dallas SPCA, in Dallas,

         15  Texas, the Humane Society of Huron Valley, the

         16  Montgomery County Humane Society of Rockville,

         17  Maryland, and finally, when you look at the cost of

         18  sheltering an animal, the cost of euthanasia, of

         19  storing the dead body, of delivery of the body to

         20  the crematorium and cremation, we are paying a lot

         21  of tax dollars to kill between 100 and 150 animals a

         22  day when it really is no longer necessary.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Sir.
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          2                 MR. DOYNO: My name is Warren Doyno, I

          3  am founder of the Animal Shelter Reform Committee, I

          4  have been in the movement some 31 years.

          5                 This is what I believe has to be

          6  done, all right?

          7                 Thank you for holding the hearings on

          8  Intro. 456, which is an important piece of

          9  legislation that will save the taxpayers money in

         10  the longrun, it will reduce the number of animals

         11  being killed in shelters and in the streets of New

         12  York by spaying and neutering dogs and cats, reduce

         13  the number of animals being born and it will

         14  ultimately save the taxpayers money, as Bob Barker

         15  stated, three years back on the steps of City Hall

         16  when he asked Mayor Giuliani and Peter Vallone and

         17  the City Council to pass Intro. 321 at that point

         18  when it was a much stronger bill. But it was amended

         19  for a better chance at passage, it was weakened in

         20  some ways, but I believe it is better than nothing,

         21  and there is an improvement in it that will have

         22  spay and neuter and will open up spay and neuter

         23  clinics.

         24                 This is also important, I would like

         25  to add something else. One of the ways to enforce
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          2  the license law is only seven percent of the public

          3  license their animals. If you take people who are on

          4  welfare or people who are unemployed and you screen

          5  them and so on, and you hired them to collect the

          6  license money, instead of a seven percent ratio of

          7  people paying for their licenses, you would have

          8  maybe an 80 or 90 percent ratio and you would have

          9  enough money for spaying and neutering clinics.

         10                 This is very, very important.

         11                 Also, I believe that the State of New

         12  York should pass legislation to give the money

         13  directly to the CACC instead of to the City to dole

         14  out whatever they want to give.

         15                 Thank you so much, Councilman Robles,

         16  Kathryn Freed, for introducing your legislation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 MR. ORENGO: Joyce Friedman, Livi

         20  French, Dr. Deborah Tanzer.

         21                 MS. FRENCH: Good afternoon. My name

         22  is Livi French, with The Caring Corps, also a member

         23  of the Shelter Reform Action Committee.

         24                 I didn't prepare any notes because

         25  frankly I came here very cynically, and in answer to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            132

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  something that arose a few minutes ago, Intro. 456,

          3  by whatever Intro. number, has been kicking around

          4  since 1994. It is going into its sixth year now. It

          5  is time. It is past time, to get this bill passed.

          6                 I was very happy, Mr. Robles, to hear

          7  your comments. I think that that is one hurdle less

          8  than we have had in the past.

          9                 The fact that the ASPCA has finally,

         10  after five years supporting Intro. 456, Council

         11  Member Freed's bill, is another big hurdle, and I

         12  think as soon as Speaker Vallone hears that the

         13  ASPCA is behind it, that will be another hurdle out

         14  of the way. That pretty much leaves only the vested

         15  interest of the veterinary establishment and the dog

         16  breeding industry, and they are a minority. We need

         17  this bill very badly.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         20                 MS. FRIEDMAN: My name is Joyce

         21  Friedman. I am with In Defense of Animals and

         22  Animals Advocacy Organization.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for hearing

         24  our testimony and for your earlier, very encouraging

         25  remarks.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            133

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 I would like to speak on a very

          3  important distinction between Intro. 517 and Intro.

          4  456. I am extremely concerned that Intro. 517 only

          5  addresses a very small part of the problem and

          6  ignores the major part of the problem. Only 14

          7  percent of animals are adopted from shelters, that's

          8  a Human Society US statistic. So, 86 percent of

          9  animals in this City will not be covered by Intro.

         10  517, since Intro. 517 only requires that shelters

         11  alter their animals, not the general public.

         12                 For example, we all see many owned

         13  unaltered cats and dogs roaming throughout

         14  neighborhoods in New York City impregnating each

         15  other. This should be illegal.

         16                 More importantly, three out of four

         17  of the animal shelters in New York City already as a

         18  matter of policy regularly spay and neuter all of

         19  their animals before adopting them out, except for

         20  young puppies and kittens, who were too young at the

         21  time.

         22                 So, Intro. 517 would not require much

         23  of anything that is not already happening. I don't

         24  believe that a law has to be passed for the shelter

         25  that does not yet regularly alter their animals to
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          2  begin doing so. In fact, they should begin doing so

          3  in any case to prevent unwanted litters.

          4                 Let us finally pass a bill, Intro.

          5  456, as many other cities have, to finally address

          6  the tens of thousands of animals killed yearly in

          7  City shelters, and the thousands more suffering on

          8  the streets, which I think we can all agree we see

          9  almost every day.

         10                 Intro. 456 is enforceable. Any law is

         11  a challenge to enforce, but it is certainly doable

         12  through public education and self enforcement among

         13  citizens. The pooper scooper law has a high

         14  compliance rate when many didn't think it would.

         15                 Intro 456 is what is needed, not

         16  Intro. 517, which will not prevent anything of value

         17  to the people and animals, the majority of people

         18  and animals in New York City. Intro. 456 will.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         21                 DR. TANZER: My name is Dr. Deborah

         22  Tanzer, I am a psychologist in clinical practice

         23  with children and adults, and I also do research

         24  teaching and writing about the relationships between

         25  human cruelty to animals and human violence against
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          2  humans.

          3                 I am currently writing a book that

          4  includes this topic.

          5                 I am here to speak to you in favor of

          6  Intro. 456, rather than Intro. 517, because 456 will

          7  reach and effect more animals. This is of crucial

          8  importance, both for the sake of animals who suffer

          9  so terribly, and then die so horribly in our

         10  shelters in New York City, and for the sake of

         11  humans in New York City as well, for the following

         12  reason:

         13                 In recent years, research data have

         14  increasingly been establishing the fact that abuse

         15  and neglect of animals is correlated with and leads

         16  to abuse and neglect of other humans by humans. When

         17  large numbers of dogs and cats are homeless,

         18  neglected and in positions to be abused, and then

         19  killed in what are called shelters, in such

         20  horrifying numbers, in large part because of the

         21  lack of mandatory spay and neuter legislation, we

         22  are not only advocating our guardianship obligation

         23  toward animals, but we are by example indirectly and

         24  directly encouraging callous and violent attitudes

         25  toward other humans. We are teaching our city's
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          2  children and adults attitudes that say that

          3  creatures are disposable and that it is okay to

          4  throw them away, neglect them, abuse them and then

          5  kill them.

          6                 As I said, not only is this directly

          7  cruel to the animals, but in a broader way it sets

          8  the stage for more neglect and violence toward both

          9  children and adults and our City generally.

         10                 For this reason, I urge that you

         11  adopt Intro. 456, rather than 517, because it will

         12  reach many more animals. New York in this way will

         13  be able to reclaim its image as a City that cares

         14  about all beings.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Those were the last, but before I

         19  close these hearings, let me again -- because I hope

         20  that we get a message through, and that is this

         21  Chair intends not to evade or duck any issue, any

         22  issue that belongs in this Committee.

         23                 Second, again, I really don't know

         24  the past, although I have been here for some years,

         25  I assure you that I will work with my colleague,
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          2  Council Member Freed, with the Administration, with

          3  anyone, so that we can legislatively do what I think

          4  I heard here, that you have been attempting to do

          5  somewhat.

          6                 Let me also say that I am a believer

          7  that when you have no bread, and if we can come

          8  together and get something done, although it may not

          9  be the whole loaf, that I will do everything to

         10  move, because I could always come back to undo what

         11  is left out.

         12                 I must tell you that I am not the

         13  person who says that it is, like some attitudes

         14  around, not only here but in Albany and in

         15  Washington, I am not a believer either give me all

         16  the marbles or we don't play the game.

         17                 So, I hope that those of you who have

         18  come out, who came in here with your own

         19  pre-established notion because of the fact that it

         20  is a courtesy of the Council, that when

         21  Administration, regardless of whether we are for or

         22  against, that if the Mayor, or for that matter the

         23  Public Advocate or Borough President requests to

         24  introduce legislation, that it is I guess an

         25  unwritten courtesy that we, whoever presides over
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          2  the Committee that is germane to the issue, will

          3  carry the bill.

          4                 So I hope that you leave here knowing

          5  that we will, and my hope is that, you know, God

          6  bless Mrs. Asch, I hope that I will be able to, if

          7  nothing else, say that maybe I am not -- well, I am

          8  one of her children, but that hopefully when I am

          9  blessed that perhaps she would know that she was an

         10  instrument in seeing that we did our job.

         11                 So, let me before I close the

         12  hearings, again ask my colleague Kathryn Freed if

         13  she has any closing remarks, and I would like then

         14  to close the hearings.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: First, thank

         16  you, Mr. Chair. And I would like to express, as

         17  everyone else has, the optimism that we feel on your

         18  remarks about doing something in this bill, because

         19  as it has been pointed out, we have been trying to

         20  do something since 1994, in that time hundreds of

         21  thousands of animals have been killed, and we are

         22  not only no closer to the solution, but if anything,

         23  we are further away from it.

         24                 I think -- one of the things I wanted

         25  to address, in addition to thanking everyone who has

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  come out today and everyone over the year who has

          3  been supportive of this, and I would just ask that

          4  you continue to support it because I would hope we

          5  are in the home stretch and we will be able to get

          6  this bill or a similar bill passed in the very near

          7  future, in fact it is interesting because the

          8  comments that were made by the Administration and

          9  the Commissioner of Health about 517 basically laid

         10  out why we have to support this bill and why this

         11  bill is necessary. And the fact that only 14 percent

         12  of the animals in the City come through the shelter

         13  also explains why we have to go forward with this

         14  and why it is so necessary.

         15                 One thing that I wanted to address

         16  that I didn't in my opening statement that I heard a

         17  number of times from the Council itself, is that the

         18  idea of requiring people to pay an annual fee so

         19  that they can breed their dogs or cats, and that

         20  somehow that is like a tax. Well, I have to say that

         21  while right now people who indiscriminately breed

         22  dogs and cats, we, the taxpayers, are paying for

         23  their right to breed -- and it isn't a right -- but

         24  for their hobby to breed their dogs or their cats, I

         25  have no problem with doing that, but I do have a
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          2  problem with the rest of the City paying for it. I

          3  have a big problem with the rest of the dogs and the

          4  cats that are out there who are also dying for it.

          5                 So, I think if anyone takes a look at

          6  the condition in New York right now, takes a look at

          7  these bills, I believe that they will agree that

          8  they will agree that we need a spay/neuter bill and

          9  we need it now, that we need to build low-cost

         10  spay/neuter clinics.

         11                 I really have to thank Peter -- or

         12  John, what was it -- anyway, the guy from TEAM, who

         13  came forward to testify and to really give us the

         14  facts and figures about how much it costs to set up

         15  in that case a mobile feline unit which came to

         16  total cost for everything was $63,500. If you listen

         17  to the comments and the figures, if you can dig

         18  through all the obfuscation that was put forward by

         19  Marilyn Haggerty-Blume, the fact is that under 517

         20  we will still be required, we, the City, will still

         21  be required to put up at least a million dollars

         22  annually every year and yet we will never address

         23  the problem of cutting down on the number of

         24  unwanted dogs or cats.

         25                 The truth is we can do it. We can
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          2  create the low-cost spay/neuter clinics for a much

          3  lesser amount, we will address the problem humanely

          4  and we can get to the point where all dogs and cats

          5  who are produced in the City will be wanted, will

          6  get away with the ugly ugliness and inhumaneness of

          7  killing hundreds of thousands of dogs and cats.

          8                 So, again, I want to thank you,

          9  everyone who showed up today, and I especially want

         10  to thank you, Mr. Chair, for your support.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Seeing no other

         12  business before this Committee, I adjourn these

         13  hearings.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 3:53 p.m.)
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